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From the Chairman
Dear Shareholder,
This annual report details a truly exciting year in the Company’s short history, headlined by the imminent
completion of the demonstration plant to produce copper cathodes from our flagship Wetar Copper Project,
which should generate a significant cash flow for the Company. We have also made excellent progress towards
establishing a mineable gold-silver resource at the Ojolali gold-silver project in Sumatra.
The demonstration plant is approximately one tenth the size of the planned full scale processing operation,
and is providing an invaluable opportunity in training local staff in the full range of operating skills required for
construction and operation of the full scale mining and processing operation. In addition, all of the infrastructure,
and a significant proportion of the demonstration plant components will carry over to be utilized in the planned
20-25,000 tonne per annum copper project development.
These factors will result in a major reduction of the risk associated with developing the full scale copper mining
and processing project, in that essentially all facets required for that development will have been tested, from
community and governmental relations and permitting, through to international procurement and logistics, and
heap leach operation and management. Feasibility studies for the full scale operation are progressing well in
parallel with the demonstration plant development.
At the Ojolali gold-silver project, our drilling during the year has advanced the Jambi oxide gold resource closer
to levels which might justify a start-up mining operation, and ongoing exploration has defined a number of
additional targets with strong potential to add significant additional near surface gold and silver resources. Our
focus at Ojolali remains on a staged development program based on a small scale gold mine development
to generate cash flow to fund ongoing exploration to unlock the major exploration upside potential which
Directors consider to exist within the Ojolali project area.
Achieving these results has come about as a result of a sustained effort by the company’s management and
staff, in the light of significant supplier related delays in key equipment for the demonstration plant, consequent
delays in the generation of cash flow from that plant, and exacerbated by the drastic contraction in the equities
markets and availability of finance over the last 6 months.
Notwithstanding these factors, your Directors believe that the fundamentals of the company remain very strong.
We have a high grade copper resource amenable to low cost mining and processing, and the copper price,
while off its peaks, remains at historically very high levels. Cash flow from the Wetar demonstration plant, once
achieved, should more than cover the company’s operating costs, and we are pursuing a range of options for
financing the main Wetar copper project in such a way as to maximize value for shareholders.
Finders Board and management remain committed to maintaining the highest possible standards of environmental
excellence and good corporate citizenship, and are actively pursuing social development programs to match
our technical work in the communities in which we operate.
On behalf of the Board, I would like to thank shareholders for their support through a testing time in the market,
and look forward to your continued support as we work to fast track development of the Wetar Copper Project
into a significant and low cost copper producer.

Russell Fountain
EXECUTIVE CHAIRMAN
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Operations Review
Objectives and Strategy
The Company’s vision is to build on the success of the Wetar Copper Project where the demonstration
plant is scheduled to produce initial copper cathode from November.
Finders intend to build on short-term cash flow from Wetar, expand to the full scale project and focus on
our project portfolio by sequential development of pipeline projects.
The Ojolali gold-silver project, particularly the Jambi Oxide gold deposit, represents a potential follow-on
project. Further growth will be generated through brownfields exploration and ongoing assessment of new projects
with high growth potential.
Specific objectives include:
•
•
•
•

Development of the Wetar copper project as a low cost copper producer targeting 25,000 tpa
copper production from end 2009
Progressive development at Ojolali with low cost start-up oxide gold mining operation to provide
cash flow while unlocking the outstanding potential for additional discovery in the surrounding
mineral district.
Shareholder value return from the investment in Geopacific Resources NL.
Identifying new undervalued assets for low cost acquisition.

The Board believes that these objectives can be achieved by means of the planned work programme
which targets:
•
•
•

Completion of a definitive feasibility study at Wetar Copper project by Q1 2009
Final permitting and project financing for Wetar in early 2009
Step-out drilling of the Jambi oxide gold deposit and evaluation of the oxide potential at Tambang
with view to a feasibility study in 2009.

The Board is fully committed to operational safety and the principles of sustainability in mining.

Wetar Island
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Wetar Copper Project
(Fnd 72.4% as at 30/12/2006, estimated ~90% 1 Sept 2008 subject to audit)

The Wetar Copper Project is located in Maluku, Eastern Indonesia. The project is the site of a former gold mine
operation by Billiton until 1997 and comprises two main deposits, Kali Kuning and Lerokis, both within 5km of the
coast. The deposits are high grade (2.5% Cu) and located at surface, resulting in low stripping ratios.
The Wetar deposits are regarded to be similar in mineralisation style to sea-floor black smoker deposits and are
characterised by a gold-bearing barite sand cap rock (now mined) underlain by a copper-bearing massive
pyrite body. The copper deposits consist of a single pyritic massive sulphide lenses with sharp upper and lower
boundaries.
Within the massive sulphide unit, there is minor oxidation resulting in 10-15% of the copper occurring in water
soluble species. Sulphide copper mineralisation at Kali Kuning is found predominantly in the matrix of breccias
and stockworks and comprises covellite-chalcocite (~65% of contained copper) chalcopyrite, enargite and
tennantite. Similar minerals occur at Lerokis, with a higher proportion of chalcopyrite (~45% of contained copper)
and significant zinc in the form of sphalerite.
At the Wetar Copper Project, Finders has previously announced the following resource estimates for the Kali
Kuning and Lerokis deposits:
Attributable (72.4%)
Category

Tonnes (M)

Cu %

Cont. Cu (KT)

Tonnes (M)

Cont. Cu (KT

Kali Kuning

Measured

3.3

2.7

89

2.4

64.6

0.5% Cu

Indicated

2.6

2.4

63

1.9

45.3

Cut-off grade

Inferred

0.6

1.8

11

0.4

7.7

Total

6.6

2.5

165

4.8

119.1

Lerokis

Indicated

2.9

2.5

71

2.1

51.6

0.5% Cu

Inferred

0.4

1.7

7

0.3

4.9

Cut-off grade

Total

3.2

2.4

76

2.3

55.1

9.8

2.5

241

7.1

174.2

Overall

(T = tonnes, m = millions, KT = kilo-tonnes of metal)

As part of a definitive feasibility study, a demonstration SX-EW plant with 5t per day copper cathode capacity is
being installed with commissioning due in October 2008.
The Company is targeting completion of construction of a of 20-25,000 tonnes per year copper cathode SX-EW
plant by the end of 2009, subject to accelerated schedules for engineering design work and project funding.

Kali Kuning Open Pit
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Wetar Copper Project
(Fnd 72.4% as at 30/12/2006, estimated ~90% 1 Sept 2008 subject to audit)

Demonstration Plant
In late 2007, the Company completed preliminary
cost estimates (US$6.25m) for a demonstration plant
which provided for the construction of test heaps and
associated infrastructure to permit the installation of
a pilot plant with 5t/day Cu cathode production
capacity. The design allowed for the trial processing
of up to 100,000 tonnes of ore from the Kali Kuning pit
and will test run of the mine average grade material
to optimise copper recovery with a particular focus
on heap height and heap temperature.

The delay has impacted the overall cost for the
demonstration plant by means of additional operating
costs. Costs have also been impacted by higher
fuel, stainless steel and freight charges in the past six
months. Overall, compared to the initial capital and
pre-production operating costs estimate, the current
projection is that the demonstration plant will be
approximately 20% over budget.
During the year, Finders also purchased significant
capital items (previously unbudgeted) which can be
utilised for the full scale project, namely:
•

Primary, secondary and tertiary crushers
purchased for approximately $1.2m with
capacity of 120tph @ 6.5mm and 200tph @
12mm.

•

A 100DWT supply vessel capable of carrying
75,000l of fuel.

Solvent Extraction plant design
Progress to date is as follows:
•

All major equipment items are now on site or
in transit except for trunk busbars; which are
subject to fabrication delays and are due in
late September.

•

Earthworks are complete for the leach pad,
crusher/stacker area and SX-EW plant and
ponds.

•

Crusher circuit and installation complete

•

SX-EW plant installation
completion mid Sept

•

Test pit mining pre-strip complete with ~4,000t
stockpile.

scheduled

Electrowinning plant design

for

Commissioning of the demonstration plant is
scheduled for October 2008, subject to the arrival of
the trunk busbars for the electro-winning plant. As
a result of supplier delays, the project is behind the
original planned production schedule of mid-2008.
Crusher Installation
4
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Wetar Copper Project
(Fnd 72.4% as at 30/12/2006, estimated ~90% 1 Sept 2008 subject to audit)

Feasibility Study
The feasibility study for the full scale 20-25,000 tpa
cathode operation is running in parallel with the
construction of the demonstration plant and industryleading consultants have been retained for key
aspects of the Feasibility Study.
Detailed evaluation of geotechnical characteristics
of the project including pit-wall stability studies and
leach pad design have been completed by SRK
Consulting and will culminate in a final earthworks
schedule due this quarter.
Environmental baseline studies have been completed
by ENSR and IPB (Institut Pertanian Bogor). Finders
have received approval for the KA-Andal from the
Environment Impact Control Committee  (BAPEDALDA)
of the Maluku provincial government. This is the
penultimate stage of the environmental permitting
process for the planned full scale operation. Final
environment management plans and risk analyses
are due for completion in Q4 2008.
Mining and Resource studies have been undertaken
by Hellman & Schofield and Australian Mine & Design
Pty Ltd.

Finders estimate that approximately 3-4 months of
operating results from the demonstration plant will
be required to finalise modeling information on rates
of copper recovery and optimal heap height. All
other aspects of the feasibility study are scheduled
for earlier completion.
Calder Projects have been withdrawn as study
managers for the Feasibility Study. The Company has
accepted a proposal from Ausenco Services Pty Ltd
to manage the remainder of the study with the option
of advanced engineering studies to facilitate faster
project timelines. Ausenco have reviewed:
o

Existing results and developed
implementation plan for the study

o

The development schedule in order to
identify long lead time items required to
achieve the late 2009 production target

an

The Company is pleased to report that the Ausenco
team comprises the key process engineering and
design staff recently involved with the successful
commissioning of a similar sized SX-EW plant at the
Lady Annie project in Queensland, Australia.

!

3D-block model showing the Kali Kuning deposit and drill-hole locations
ANNUAL REPORT 2008
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Wetar Copper Project
(Fnd 72.4% as at 30/12/2006, estimated ~90% 1 Sept 2008 subject to audit)

Leach Test Work
The copper extraction route selected for the Wetar
Copper project is heap leaching followed by SXEW to produce copper cathode. SX-EW currently
accounts for round 35% of the world’s copper
production. Sulphide copper leaching, predominantly
from chalcocite, is practiced in a number of mines,
Australian examples include parts of the Whim Creek
operation and Giralambone (now closed). The
process involves irrigation using acid and aeration
to produce an optimised oxidising electrochemical
environment within the heaps.
The Wetar copper deposits have a number of
characteristics which on the basis of test work
completed by Finders have the potential to enhance
commercial-scale copper recovery and reduce
operating costs compared to other operations. The
copper minerals are dominantly chaclocite and
water soluble species which have fast leach rates
in a process which utilises ferric acid generated
by naturally occurring bacteria. In addition, the
dominant mineral is pyrite which produces heat
when oxidised. In laboratory controlled column tests,
temperature conditions have reached up to 55OC
and it is expected that the Wetar heaps will run at
higher operating temperatures. At higher operating
temperatures results indicate that copper recovery
from chalcopyrite is enhanced, although leaching
occurs at slower rates compared to chalcocite
leaching. An added benefit is that the column
tests indicate that the leach process will be acid
generating, eliminating the need to buy acid for the
leach process, which is a major cost component in
Cu leach projects elsewhere.

o

Leach rates for 12mm and 6.5mm crushed
ore are similar in the 2m column tests, this has
potential cost savings for crushing but subject to
further testing, particularly with respect to acid
concentrations.

o

Leach rates in 2m columns are faster than for
1m columns and by extrapolation leach rates for
the heaps are expected to show faster kinetics
than those shown in the 2m column tests.

o

Temperature has a very significant effect on
leach rates on Lerokis ore (chalcopyrite rich)
with between +300% higher rates for the slow
leaching and +400% for fast leaching at 45 OC
compared to 30 OC.

o

Best copper recoveries (subject to mass
balance calculations) are 81.6% after a 190 day
leach cycle.

Since late 2006, the Company have conducted a
number of column tests using representative samples
from both the Kali Kuning and Lerokis deposits at
a variety of column heights, temperatures and
crush sizes. Two parallel test programs have been
undertaken to assess conventional sulphide copper
heap leach processes (HRL-Testing Pty Ltd, Brisbane,
‘HRL’) and the proprietary BioHeapTM sulphide copper
leach process.
At HRL a total of 13 column tests have been
undertaken. Major conclusions from the test work to
date are that:
o

6

Leach rates for the two ore types (Kali Kuning
and Lerokis) are similar under similar conditions
and typically show an initial fast leaching rate
followed by a slower leaching rate believed
to represent the change in leaching from the
readily accessible copper on the surface of
the crushed particles; to the more inaccessible
copper within particles.
Finders Resources Limited A.B.N. 82 108 547 413

Ongoing HRL Column Tests
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Wetar Copper Project
(Fnd 72.4% as at 30/12/2006, estimated ~90% 1 Sept 2008 subject to audit)

Ongoing HRL Test results
Metals Reporting to Solution (% total pending mass balance calculations)

Two of six new column tests using BioheapTM technology at Ammtec Laboratories in Perth, have now been
completed.  Final copper recoveries from the 1m columns with Kali Kuning material after a 293 day leach cycle
were 84.4% for the 6.3mm crush size and 88.4% for the 12mm crush size (after mass balance calculations).  From
the other tests, the Lerokis columns continue to show increasing copper recoveries.
Column Height /
Crush Size

Ore Body

Fe (%)

Cu (%)

Zn (%)

1m  / 6.3mm

Lerokis

15.6

81.5+

83.0

1m  / 19mm

Lerokis

8.5

31.6+

80.1

3m  / 19mm

Lerokis

12.7

65.2+

90.2

Kali Kuning

8.7

84.4

89.5

Kali Kuning

6.2

88.4

109.1

Kali Kuning

5.3

57.4+

57.6

1m  / 6.3mm terminated
1m  /  19mm terminated
3m  / 19mm

Ongoing BioHeapTM Test results
Metals Reporting to Solution (+pending mass balance calculations)

Pregnant Leach Solution
ANNUAL REPORT 2008
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Wetar Copper Project
(Fnd 72.4% as at 30/12/2006, estimated ~90% 1 Sept 2008 subject to audit)

Regional Exploration

Exploration
The Company has completed the first phase of
exploration in the tenements on the southern coast
of Wetar Island.
Pantai Merah Prospect
Within the Exploration KP surrounding the Pantai
Merah prospect, detailed stream mapping, float and
outcrop sampling and stream geochemistry has been
completed over an area of 1,500 hectares.
This work has successfully identified a tuff sequence
with barite mineralisation which appears to be a
similar stratigraphic unit to that observed adjacent
to the gold-copper mineralisation at the Kali Kuning
deposit.
This unit can be traced for 2km north of the Pantai
Merah prospect providing a greatly enlarged target
area which is characterised by a thin cover sequence
(estimated to be a maximum of 50m thick) and
strong stream geochemistry. Within the expanded
mineralised district, float assays from baritic rocks
are frequently greater than 1 g/t Au and reach a
maximum of 16 g/t Au.
EM surveys are planned for Q4 2008 and designed to
explore for sulphide conductors, which in the context
of the stratigraphy on Wetar, would help explore
for intact gold-copper systems in the Pantai Merah
district, similar to those at Kali Kuning and Lerokis.

Regional stream sediment and float sampling has
been completed within a 20,000 hectare area
covering the General Survey tenements surrounding
the known Bati Duri (J91) and Ilwaki (W6) prospects.
Both these prospects have had previous scout drilling
with significant gold, silver and copper intersects
including:
•

W6 (Ilwaki) Prospect -8 drill holes/777m;
best result 14m @ 0.55 g/t Au, 95 g/t Ag

•

Batu Duri (J91) Prospect -9 drill
holes/602.5m; best Au result: 7m @ 1.1
g/t Au, best copper 10m @ 4.5% Cu

Four new areas have been identified for more
advanced exploration (Appendix 2):
•

Upper Arnau: 2.5km NE of Batu Duri with
strong stream geochemistry and float
recording assays of 4.3 g/t Au and 140
g/t Ag

•

Lawair: Strong steam geochemistry and
baritic rock floats with assays of up to
8 g/t Au, also significant base metal
anomalism with float assaying up to 0.3%
Cu and 1.25% Zn

•

Lasi: Strong geochemistry in a drainage
1km east of the Ilwaki prospect.

•

Dirkuun: Similar geochemical signature
to the known prospects.

Both the Upper Arnau and Lasi areas may represent
previously unknown lateral extensions to the known
mineralisation systems at Batu Duri and Ilwaki,
respectively.

!
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Ojolali Silver-Gold Project
(Fnd 72% & option for100%)

The Ojolali Project is located on the island of Sumatra,
Indonesia and comprises a cluster of low sulphidation
epithermal gold and silver vein systems within altered
volcanics within a 54 sq km block of tenements
located in the Sumatran gold belt which has over 5
million ounces of historic gold production. Previous
exploration in the area was carried out by Antares
Mining and Exploration who completed 22,000 m of
shallow diamond drilling, in 212 holes, between 1997
and 1999, targeting two main prospect areas, the
Jambi oxide gold prospect and the Tambang silvergold prospect.
Since acquiring the project, Finders has carried out an
intensive exploration program, comprising diamond
and reverse circulation drilling to expand the resource
base at the Jambi and confirm drilling by a previous
explorer at Tambang. A program of grid geological
mapping and geochemical sampling, followed up by
detailed geophysics has been completed to define
and rank additional prospects.
Two phases of metallurgical test work has been
completed on Jambi samples for composite drill core
samples selected across a range of grades, depths
and oxidation states for test work at Independent
Metallurgical Laboratory Pty (IML) in Perth, Australia.
Results from the test work are very encouraging.
Milled composite samples representing CIP/CIL feed
from representative of parts of the deposit with full
oxidation showed gold recoveries of around 90%.
Around 70% silver recovery was achieved from a
silver-rich composite (~15g/t Ag).  Samples of partially
oxidised material averaged around 77% recovery for
both gold and silver.  The 12mm crush size tests of fully

oxidised material indicated average gold recoveries
of around 75%, although higher grade composites
achieved better recoveries of up to 81.5%.  A partially
oxidised composite sample gave lower gold recovery
of around 40%. The test work indicates that acceptable
gold recoveries are achievable at Jambi and that
there is scope to consider heap leach treatment of
marginal ore.
Finders believe that the Ojolali project has strong
potential to generate short-term cash flow through
open pit CIL/CIP development of the gold resource at
the Jambi Oxide gold deposit. Other prospects have
outstanding potential for the discovery of additional
resources using modern geophysical techniques to
optimize drill targeting.
Finders has previously announced Inferred Resources
at the Tambang Prospect (7.9 Mt @ 167g/t Ag and 0.7
g/t Au at a 1 g/t Au equivalent cut-off using drilling
data from a previous explorer).
Finder’s work program is designed to address the multi
million-ounce potential it considers exists for the district
by means of a progressive program focussed on:

•
•

•

establishing early cash flow from the leachable
gold deposit at Jambi.
establishment of a viable metallurgical process
for Tambang mineralization to accommodate
significant zinc and lead values which
accompany the previously reported gold and
silver values.
progressive exploration for additional resources
in the district with emphasis on follow up of IP
results.

ANNUAL REPORT 2008
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Ojolali Silver-Gold Project
(Fnd 72% & option for100%)

An Emerging District
The project is located in rolling countryside within 5km
of a major highway and grid power.
Geophysics
Finders have completed extensive Induced
Polarisation (IP) and magnetic surveys within the
Ojolali project area. The objective has been to
establish the continuity of vein and alteration zones in
a locality with isolated outcrop. Known mineralisation
is within and at the margins of a pull-apart basin
bounded by faulted blocks of magnetite-bearing
basaltic basement rocks.
A cluster of 18 named prospects were characterized
initially using the IP technique with priority areas
selected for follow-up soils, channel sampling/
trenching and magnetics.
Ground Magnetics
A program of detailed ground magnetics has been
completed covering approximately 15 sq. km of
the tenement area, targeting boundary zones of
interpreted basement highs. Results show a good
correlation between known structures and zones of
de-magnetization and clustering of gold showings
from channel samples.
Auger Soil Sampling
During the year a major program of geochemical soil
sampling was completed, with five metre spaced “B”
horizon samples composited into 25m assay samples at
100m or 200m line spacing. The program has covered
approximately 35 square km and approximately 9,890
samples have been assayed.
Results received to date have been highly
encouraging, with significant zones of strong gold,
but also silver anomalism extending well beyond
previously known mineralized centres. In particular,
anomalous zones are located adjacent to the
Jambi resource with a north-trending gold and goldsilver anomaly and a zone of gold-silver anomalies
extending south westerly from the drilling area. High
gold and silver soil anomalies are also identified
adjacent to the Tambang resource.

Plan showing composite gold and silver soil anomalies in the
project area

Tambang Outcrop

10
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Ojolali Silver-Gold Project
(Fnd 72% & option for100%)

Reverse Circulation Scout Drilling Program
Drilling thus far has been concentrated at Kencur (7
holes, 748m) with the remainder of the drill program
for the focused on the Jambi oxide gold deposit and
its extensions.
Results from Kencur were disappointing with generally
narrow, low grade zones of minor veining within wider
zones of silicification being intercepted.

Hole

From (m)

Width (m)

Au g/t

Ag g/t

3
74
11
56
91
29
10
51

1
1
2
1
1
1
1
4

2.1
1.1
1.1
1.4
1.2
1.0
2.0
1.1

3
6
1
1
1
3

KCRR01
KCRR03
KCRR04
KCRR05
KCRR06
KCRR07

Kencur Prospect scout drilling: significant assay
results

Tambang Float

Jambi HIll

Ojolali Drilling

ANNUAL REPORT 2008
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Ojolali Silver-Gold Project
(Fnd 72% & option for100%)

partially oxidised zones estimated by the first two of three
progressively more relaxed search passes are classified as
Indicated, all other estimates are classified as Inferred.

Jambi Oxide Gold
Mineralisation at Jambi is dominantly associated with
the intersection of steeply dipping fracture zones with
coarse grained breccia units. Supergene enrichment
has enhanced gold grades within the oxidised zone,
producing broad zones of elevated grades near surface,
and narrower zones at depth where the oxidation profile
deepens around fracture zones. Leaching of silver grades
has given generally lower grades within the oxidised
zone and enrichment in the partially oxidised zone at the
transition between completely oxidised and fresh rock.

The current model defines significantly more tonnes, at
marginally higher gold grades than estimated by H&S in
January 2007. Both models were generated using similar
estimation methodology and comparable parameters, but
the only the 2007 model includes channel sampling by Finders
and the broad drilling assay composite data by previous
explorers.
Silver Grades

Due to the generally low silver grades in the completely
Hellman & Schofield Pty Ltd (H&S) was commissioned by
oxidised zone which hosts approximately 75% of estimated
Finders Resources Limited (Finders) to produce estimates
resources at a 0.5 g/t Au cut off, and the poor correlation
of gold and silver resources potentially recoverable by
between gold and silver, the current estimates are reported
open pit mining for the Jambi deposit. H&S has estimated
above gold cut off grades.
the recoverable resources using Multiple Indicator Kriging
(MIK) with block support correction, a
method that has been demonstrated
Collar location (UTM Zone
Ag
Depth
48S)
to provide reliable estimates of
Intercept
Comment
g/t
(from)
recoverable open pit resources for
East
North
Drill hole
deposits of diverse geological styles.
BKJ22

446,396

The current estimates are based
BKJR71
446,390
on 34 diamond core holes and 93
BJKR89
446,294
reverse circulation (RC) holes drilled
BKJR114
446,357
by Finders between 2006 and 2008
for a total of 11,745 metres. Drilling
BKJR130
446,347
by previous explorers, for which the
only available grade data comprises
broad intercepts apparently derived from significant drill
results, was not used in the current estimate.
The following table shows the current resource estimates at
a range of cut off grades and by oxidation type. Significant
figures used in the table reflect the level of accuracy, and
may exhibit rounding errors.

Indicated

Inferred

3m

3,306

77 m

2m

2,185

68 m

9,482,901

1m

580

132 m

9,482,875

3m

396

100 m

9,482,850

1m

725

59 m

In the southwest part of the resource area, higher silver grades
appear to cluster around the base of oxidation, and there are
several drill holes with anomalously high grade silver intercepts
within the partially oxidised zone, including 3 metres at 3,306
g/t in BKJ22 and 2 metres at 2,185 g/t in BKJR171.

Total

Cont.
Au

Attrib.
Finders
72%

Mt

Au
g/t

Ag
g/t

Mt

Au
g/t

Ag
g/t

Mt

Au
g/t

Ag
g/t

koz

Au koz

0.5

2.98

1.10

8.3

1.1

0.9

5.7

4.08

1.05

7.6

138

99

0.7

1.97

1.36

8.4

0.6

1.2

6.0

2.57

1.32

7.8

109

78

1.0

1.13

1.74

8.5

0.3

1.6

6.7

1.43

1.71

8.1

78.6

57

May 2008 Jambi Deposit Mineral Resource Estimates
(Mt equals millions of tonnes, koz equals thousands of ounces. Subject to rounding
errors.)

Finders Resources Limited A.B.N. 82 108 547 413

Last metre of drill hole

Anomalously High Grade Silver Intervals

Au
g/t

12

Includes 2 m @ 4,865 g/t

The current resource model may not appropriately reflect
these high grade silver intercepts which appear to represent
a different mineralisation style from the bulk of the currently
defined Jambi resource and which require additional work to
provide a meaningful estimate.

These estimates cover approximately 475 metres of strike
length, over a maximum width of approximately 350
metres and extend from surface to a maximum depth of
approximately 160 metres. Panels within the oxidised and
Cut
off

9,482,951

9,482,922

Ojolali Silver-Gold Project
(Fnd 72% & option for100%)

Section showing resource estimate at 0.8 g/t Au cut off, panels are scaled by the proportion estimated above the cut off
grade, and drill hole traces annotated by gold grade, 9,482,950 N

Tambang
Resources and Exploration
The major Tambang vein system has been traced over
a strike length of about 2.5 km, within a corridor of
altered rocks up to 800m wide. Based on the Previous
Antares drilling, in 2006 Hellman & Schofield Pty Ltd
reviewed the drilling data over 500m of the strike
length and estimated an Inferred Mineral Resource
for Tambang in accordance with the JORC code of
7.9 Mt @ 167g/t Ag and 0.67g/t Au at a cut-off grade
of ~1g/t Au equivalent. This equates to ~40 million Oz
Ag and ~170,000 Oz Au.  
High silver grades from the recent Jambi drilling
program are interpreted by Finders to represent a
level of supergene enrichment of silver at the base of
oxidation. This concept opens up the prospect of a
similar silver enrichment target at the base of oxidation
in the Tambang vein system, and remains essentially
untested by drilling to date. With an average veining
width of around 25m, the Tambang vein system has
potential for around 3 million tonnes of oxide material,
corresponding with strong surface gold and silver
anomalism, and demonstrated primary silver grades
at depth.

Metallurgy
Metallurgical test work at Tambang, outlined below,
has focused on gold and silver recovery from
essentially un-oxidized primary zone mineralization,
which contains elevated levels of zinc (locally +1%)
and lead (+0.5%). To date, no work has been done
to evaluate the metallurgical response of the near
surface oxidized portion of the Tambang vein.
G&T Metallurgical Services Ltd of Kamloops, Canada
completed an initial program of mineralogy and
flotation test work on 300 kg of fresh half drill core
from the Tambang resource. Two composite samples
represent silver-rich and zinc-rich samples of the
Tambang deposit.   In rougher test work, 70-80% of
the silver reported to a rougher bulk concentrate
and 60-80% of the zinc reported to the rougher zinc
concentrates. In the cleaner circuit tests, between
60-70% of the silver in both composites was recovered
into a low quality bulk concentrate with high copper
and low lead grades; these concentrates assayed
about 2500 g/t Ag for the silver-rich composite
and 4000 g/t Ag for the zinc-rich composite. The
zinc circuit produced a cleaner concentrate
that recovered between 70-75% of the zinc. The
concentrate produced ranged between 50 and 60%
zinc. Elevated levels of arsenic, antimony, cadmium
and bismuth in these concentrates could affect their
saleablility.
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In summary, a two-product flotation flow-sheet for the Tambang material produces:
•
•

a low quality bulk concentrate with significant silver grades.
A moderate grade zinc concentrate with elevated silver, antimony, arsenic and cadmium.

A significant program of additional test work and flow-sheet development work is required in order to confirm
whether three separate marketable concentrates can be produced for a three-product flotation flow-sheet.
This program would include a copper-lead separation stage, individual copper, lead and zinc flotation stages
and finer grinding.

Ojolali Project Area looking southwest towards Tambang
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Corporate
On 3rd January 2008, the Company raised A$4.4 million with the placement of 4 million shares at A$1.10 per
share by Southern Cross Equities.
On 11th January 2008, funding for the Wetar demonstration plant and working capital was completed by:
•
•

the issue of a total of 5,165,289 shares at A$1.10 per share (raising A$5.68 million) to Tennant
Metals Pty Ltd and its associated shareholder, Meridian International Capital Limited, and
the provision of a secured loan facility for US$5.0 million.  By the end of the reporting period a
total of US$3,750,000 was drawn down from this loan facility.

During the reporting period a total of 101,000 options exercised at a price of 50c.
The capital structure of the Company (AIM & ASX ticker FND) is as follows:
Type of Security

Exercise Price

Expry Date

Number in Issue

Previous Shares inIssue

-

-

65,655,536

New Shares issued 3 at A$1.10 (3 Jan 2008)

-

-

4,000,000

New Shares issued 3 at A$1.10 (3 Jan 2008)

-

-

5,165,289

Exercised Options during the year

-

-

101,000

Fully Paid Oridnarry Shares (“Shares”)

Total Shares now in Issue

74,921,825

Options
Unlisted Options (previously in issue)

A$0.50

20 March 2009

3.090,367

Unlisted Options (previously in issue)

24p

22 March 2009

1,322,881

Unlisted Options (previously in issue)

A$0.6875

13 June 2010

500,000

Total Options now in issue

4,913,248

Subsequent Events
The Directors approved:
a)

A placement of up to 8,333,333 ordinary fully paid shares at a price of A$0.60 each (or ₤ 0.28
each for certain investors), on 2 September 2007, subject to shareholder approval; and

b)

A Share Purchase Plan where each shareholder or depositary interest holder is able to invest
up to A$5,000, also at a price of A$0.60 each (or ₤ 0.28 each for depositary interest holders).

Wetar Camp
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Executive Management
Finders is led by a Board and management team with strong technical and commercial skills and significant
experience in the international resources industry. The team has a valuable mix of skills which include:

•
•

exploration and development expertise across a wide range of metals, minerals and rock types;

•
•
•
•

senior operational and project development and commissioning management experience;

commercial, financial and legal expertise required for negotiating project agreements and
expediting project development;
Indonesian project experience and contacts;
international resource industry and commercial contacts; and
large, medium and small company experience.

Over the past 20 years, between them, the team have played an integral role in the discovery, evaluation,
commissioning and operation of several new mining operations, notably: Granny Smith, Osborne, Girilambone,
Waihi, Wetar, Lebong Tandai, Forrestania, Honeymoon Well, Silver Swan, Gosowong, Mt Muro and Monywa.
Dr Russell Fountain (aged 63), BSc, PhD, FAIG — Executive Chairman
Dr Fountain has over 40 years of international experience in all aspects of mineral exploration, project
feasibility and project development. Previous senior positions include President, Phelps Dodge
Exploration Corporation; Exploration Manager, Nord Pacific Ltd and Chief Geologist, CSR Minerals Ltd.  
Dr Fountain has had global responsibility for corporate exploration programs with portfolios targeting
copper, gold, nickel and mineral sands and has been accessing and managing mining opportunities
for a significant portion of his career.
Dr Chris Farmer (aged 43), BSc(Hons), MBA, PhD — Managing Director
Dr Farmer has over 15 years of international experience in all aspects of exploration, with an emphasis
on international joint ventures and business development. Previous positions include Vice-President
Australasia and Chief Geologist, Phelps Dodge Exploration Corporation; and Senior Geologist with both
Highlands Gold (Indonesia) Pty Ltd and Billiton Indonesia BV.   He has worked on gold, copper and
base metal exploration projects in Indonesia, the Philippines, China, India and Australia and completed
technical assessments, due diligence or financial evaluation of grassroots and advanced projects
globally.
Mr Stephen de Belle (aged 56), BA, MSc, MTCP, MAICD — Non-Executive Director
Mr de Belle is a non-executive director of the ASX listed Midwest Corporation Ltd and Managing Director
of Mantle Mining Ltd.  Previous roles include: Managing Director, Midwest Corporation Ltd; Chairman,
Australian Superannuation Nominees Ltd, Head of Resources Finance, ABN AMRO Australia; Director,
Structured Finance, Barclays Bank and positions with BZW Australia, ANZ Capital Markets, Capel Court
and CSR Minerals Ltd. Stephen has been closely involved with the start-up and operation of iron ore,
coal, base metals, gold and petroleum projects and companies, and has particular expertise in the
development and financing of projects in the resources and infrastructure sectors both in Australia and
overseas.
Mr Steve Lonergan (aged 61), LLB, LLM — Non-Executive Director
Mr Lonergan specialises in corporate and commercial law as a private practitioner. He is currently
General Counsel and Company Secretary of CBH Resources Ltd and Director and Company Secretary
of Paradigm Gold Ltd and has held similar positions with Savage Resources Ltd and Pancontinental
Mining Ltd.  Stephen has also been a Partner for Baker & McKenzie and worked for the International Air
Transport Association, the Department of Defence and Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade. He
has been involved in acquisitions and exploration arrangements in Canada, USA, Peru, Australia, South
Asia and Africa.
Mr Ian Neuss (aged 62), BSc (Hons), Dip Ed, MSc, FAIG, FAICD — Alternate Director to Dr Fountain
Mr Neuss has over 35 years international mining experience including positions as Managing Director of
Outokumpu Mining Australia Pty Ltd and Manager Overseas Exploration for CSR Ltd.  Ian was responsible
for commercial operations and exploration, building both CSR’s overseas mining interests, and
Outokumpu’s minerals portfolio in Australia that lead to successful joint ventures, financial investments
and mines. Ian has held various positions in Indonesia, including Exploration Manager for Koba Tin during
the 1970s and Project Manager at the Lebong Tandai gold mine in the 1980s. Whilst with Outokumpu,
Ian was also an alternate Director on the board of Sipa Resources.
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Executive Management
Mr Ian Morgan (aged 53) B Bus, CA, ACIS, MAICD, FFin — Company Secretary
Ian Morgan is a Chartered Accountant and Chartered Company Secretary with initial experience
working for a major international accounting firm. Subsequent experience includes six years with
the Republic Group merchant bank and its listed and unlisted public company affiliates as Financial
Controller and Company Secretary; two years with Green’s Foods Limited as Group Financial Controller;
and five years as Financial Accountant for Akzo Australia, the Australian subsidiary of the Dutch chemical
and pharmaceutical company.

Mr Grant Harding (aged 47) BSc(Mineral Science), MAusIMM -- Operations Manager
Mr Harding is a qualified extractive metallurgist with over 25 years experience in the mining industry.
He has extensive operational, engineering and project management experience in Australia and
internationally in Indonesia, Myanmar, Ghana, Tanzania, and the Philippines. He held senior technical
positions during the development, commissioning and production phases at Aurora Gold’s Mt Muro
Gold Project in Kalimantan and at Newcrest Mining’s Gosowong Gold Project, both in Indonesia. Grant
was involved in the successful commissioning of Ivanhoe Copper’s Monywa Copper Heap Leach
Project in Myanmar in 1998 and more recently as project manager at Avocet’s Bakan heap leach
project in Indonesia.
Mr Dominic Barrington (aged 47) BSc, MSc -- Commercial Manager
Mr Barrington has over 20 years experience in the Mining Industry in a variety of roles covering grass
roots exploration through to mine and corporate development. Mr Barrington has worked extensively in
Asia and the Americas in senior commercial and legal roles for WMC.
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Geopacific Resources NL
(Fnd 12%, subject to GPR EGM on 18 September 2008)

The Company holds 5,900,000 fully paid ordinary shares in Geopacific Resources N.L (GPR).
Since listing on the ASX on 9 May 2006, Geopacific have made significant progress at several projects located in
Fiji. These include target types ranging from small, high-grade gold deposits of an epithermal gold type through
to larger skarn gold–base metal targets and very large, low-grade porphyry-copper-gold deposits.
Geopacific recently purchased the Nabila Gold project from Millennium Mining Fiji Ltd and this contains the
Faddy’s epithermal-type gold deposit which has an Inferred Resource of 920,000t @ 4.9g/t Au (144,000 ounces
of contained gold).
Shareholders are encouraged to learn more about Geopacific on www.geopacific.com.au

Drilling at Geopacific’s Vuda Prospect

Important Information & Disclaimer
The information in this report that relates mineral resource estimation is based on work completed by Dr Philip Hellman (Wetar) and Mr Jonathon Abbott (Ojolali) who
are full time employees of Hellman and Schofield Pty Ltd and a member of the Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy.  Both Dr Hellman and Mr Abbott have
sufficient experience which is relevant to the style of mineralisation and type of deposit under consideration and to the activity which they are undertaking to qualify
as a Competent Person as defined in the 2004 Edition of the ‘Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves’ and as a
Qualified Person as defined in the AIM Rules. Dr Hellman and Mr Abbott consent to the inclusion in the report of the matters based on his information in the form and
context in which it appears.
Geological information in this announcement and comments relating to exploration potential and the project in general is based on information compiled by Dr Russell
Fountain, who also accepts responsibility for the data on which the resource is based. Dr Fountain is a Director of Finders and a Fellow of the Australasian Institute of
Geoscientists. Dr Fountain has sufficient experience that is relevant to the styles of mineralisation and types of deposits under consideration and to the activity that he is
undertaking to qualify as Competent Person as defined in the JORC Code. He consents to the inclusion in this announcement of the matters based on his information
in the form and context in which they appear.
All assaying of drill core samples was undertaken by the ITS laboratory in Jakarta. ITS is one of the world’s largest product and commodity testing, inspection and
certification organizations. The Jakarta laboratory is ISO 17025 accredited and employs a Laboratory Information Management System (LIMS) for sample tracking,
quality control and reporting.
Statements in this document that are forward-looking and involve numerous risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from expected
results are based on the Company’s current beliefs and assumptions regarding a large number of factors affecting its business. Actual results may differ materially from
expected results. There can be no assurance that (i) the Company has correctly measured or identified all of the factors affecting its business or the extent of their
likely impact, (ii) the publicly available information with respect to these factors on which the Company’s analysis is based is complete or accurate, (iii) the Company’s
analysis is correct or (iv) the Company’s strategy, which is based in part on this analysis, will be successful.
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Corporate Governance
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
The Board of Directors strongly supports the concept and practice of good corporate governance. In this regard, the
Board acknowledges the guidelines set out in ASX Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations (2007).(ASX
Principles) Any departures from the ASX Principles derive from the particular circumstances of the Company and are
disclosed in this Statement. This Statement is structured along the same lines as ASX Principles, with sections dealing in turn
with each of the eight corporate governance principles.
The Board is continually reviewing its corporate governance framework in the light of the development of the Company.
As circumstances require or permit, the Board will make appropriate amendments. The framework is published on the
Company’s web site.
By way of perspective, it should be noted that the Company only has 3 executives (excluding the 2 non-executive Directors)
who are key management personnel and, in a Company of such small size, non compliance with some of the ASX Principles
is unlikely to impact on shareholder value .
The Company has two operating projects in Indonesia, the Wetar Copper project and the Ojolali Gold-Siver Project. The
Company’s Sydney office maintains budget and operational oversight of the business and associated risks. The Jakarta
office of the Company implements the execution of work programmes agreed by the Board.
Reporting, accountability, risk management and prioritisation issues are relatively simple, particularly as each of the Directors
has continuous involvement with some facet of the Company’s activities.

Principle 1 – Lay Solid Foundations For Management and Oversight
The Board of Directors is responsible for the corporate governance of the Company including its strategic development.
The Board is accountable to the Shareholders for the performance of the Company and has overall responsibility for its
operations. Day to day management of the Company’s affairs, and the implementation of the corporate strategy and
policy initiatives, has been formally delegated by the Board to the Managing Director.
The key responsibilities of the Board include:
•

approving the strategic direction and related objectives of the Company and monitoring management
performance in the achievement of these objectives;

•

adopting budgets and monitoring the financial performance of the Company;

•

reviewing the performance of the Managing Director;

•

overseeing the establishment and maintenance of adequate internal controls and effective monitoring systems;

•

ensuring all major business risks are identified and effectively managed;

•

ensuring that the Company meets its legal and statutory obligations and conforms with the highest standards of
financial and ethical behaviour;

•

selecting and, if necessary, replacing the Managing Director, establishing an appropriate remuneration package
for the Managing Director, ensuring adequate succession planning, and providing guidance on the appointment
and remuneration of its other senior executives and officers;

•

ensuring that the Company has in place a policy that enables it to communicate effectively with its Shareholders,
other stakeholders and the public generally;

•

ensuring that the composition of the Board is appropriate, selecting new directors for appointment to the Board
and reviewing the performance of the Board and the contributions of individual Directors; and

•

ensuring that satisfactory arrangements are in place for auditing the Company’s financial affairs, including
selecting and recommending auditors for appointment by Shareholders;

The Directors have individual letters of appointment setting out their respective rights and obligations.
Recommendations Not Followed
Performance evaluations of senior executives were not formally undertaken during the reporting period.
The Company does not have induction procedures for new executives as it believes they are not necessary given the
limited operations of the Company and the quite small size of and immediate accessibility to the key management of the
Company.
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Corporate Governance
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
Principle 2 – Structure The Board To Add Value
The Company believes that in spite of its relatively small size it possesses a Board of sufficient size, expertise composition
and commitment to adequately discharge its responsibilities. Given that the Company is an exploration Company and
undertaking feasibility studies, this requires that the Board be composed of individuals who have specific knowledge of
mining, exploration and related downstream aspects in addition to the underlying requirements of expertise in corporate
law, finance, accounting, commerce, product marketing, engineering and geological sciences.
A majority of the Board members have a significant personal stake in the success of the Company and the Board believes
that, on balance, this will align the interests of shareholders and Directors to the benefit of all stakeholders.
The skills, experience and expertise relevant to the position of each director who is in office at the date of the annual
report and their term of office are detailed in the Director’s Report. The following table provides a summary

Name

Position

Background

Experience

Russell John Fountain

Executive Chairman
since 2004

Exploration, Project
Feasibility & Development

~40 years

Christopher Ben Farmer

Managing Director
since 2004

Exploration & Business
Development

~15 years

Alternate for Mr Fountain
since 2006

Operations & Project
Development

~35 years

Stephen Ross de Belle

Non-Executive Director
since 2004

Commercial

Stephen John Lonergan

Non-Executive Director
since 2005

Legal

Ian David Neuss

~35 years

~30 years

The composition of the Board is subject to review in a number of ways:•

The Company’s Constitution provides that at every annual general meeting, one third of the directors shall retire
from office but may stand for re-election.

•

Board composition is reviewed periodically by the Nominations Committee either when a vacancy arises or if
it is considered the Board would benefit from the services of a new director, given the existing mix of skills and
experience of the Board and the strategic demands of the Company.

The Nomination Committee consists of Messrs de Belle, Fountain and Lonergan and is chaired by Mr Stephen Lonergan and
their attendance at meetings of the committee are detailed in the Directors’ Report
The names of independent directors of the Company are:
•

Stephen de Belle

•

Stephen Lonergan

Independent directors have the right to seek independent professional advice in the furtherance of their duties as directors
at the Company’s expense. Written approval must be obtained from the Chairman prior to incurring any expense on behalf
of the Company
All Directors have direct access to all executives and the Company Secretary
Recommendations Not Followed
The Company’s need for high level expertise and experience, have meant that the Company does not meet the ASX
Principle of having the majority of the Board as independent Directors. The Board currently comprises three executive
Directors and two independent non-executive Directors. The Board is currently looking at expanding the number of
nonexecutive directors to four, and is seeking suiable candidates that will ad to the exisiting skill base of the board.
The Chairman of the Board is not an independent director.
Performance evaluations of the Board were not formally undertaken during the reporting period.
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Corporate Governance
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
Principle 3 – Promote Ethical and Responsible Decision-Making
The Directors, management and staff are expected to perform their duties for the Company in a professional manner
and act with the utmost integrity and objectivity, striving at all times to enhance the reputation and performance of the
Company.
The Company has a code of conduct which promotes the following tenants:
•

We respect the law and act accordingly

•

We conduct ourselves with integrity, are fair and honest in our dealings and treat others with dignity

•

We do not place ourselves in situations which result in divided loyalties

•

We use the Company’s assets (including funds, equipment and information) responsibly and in the best interests
of the Company.

•

We are responsible for our actions and accountable for their consequences.

The Company considers itself to be fully aware of its social and environmental responsibilities and anticipates implementing
the highest standards of corporate operation in these regards.
The Company recognises that it has obligations to a wide range of stakeholders not only its employees, direct contractors
and shareholders. The Company has potential to be a major employer and have significant economic and social impact
in the Company’s two project areas.
The Company’s aim is that its operations (and those of its contractors) become and remain the employers of choice. The
Company accepts that many of its decisions and policies can have significant effects in the local communities and has
striven to earn and retain the respect of the broad community.
In each of the Company’s project areas the Company has engaged reputed independent consultants to undertake
extensive environmental baseline studies, the results of which are communicated to the appropriate local authorities. The
Company is not aware of any endangered species of flora or fauna in the project areas. The projects are subject to relevant
environmental regulation and will themselves have varying levels and types of potential impact on the natural environment.
Exploration work is intended to be carried out in a way that causes minimum impact on the environment. Indonesia has
laws and regulations regarding environmental matters, including disturbance and rehabilitation issues and the discharge
of hazardous waste and materials. In addition, the Company will continue to adopt “best practice” environmental
management techniques from the wider mining community particularly Australian standards of operation.
The Company’s objective is partner local communities and by means of direct consultation has jointly implemented with
each project community a range of staged projects designed to empower community members and assist in the growth
of sustainable activities within each project area. Community development plans are structured to match the project life
cycle with a strong focus on open discussion, common targets, multi-party planning and problem solving, building trust and
sharing success.
The Company’s Constitution permits the Directors to acquire securities in the Company. However, the Company dealing
policy prohibits directors and senior management from trading the Company’s securities at any time whilst in possession of
price sensitive information, during any “close period” as defined in the AIM Rules (which covers the 2 month period before
the release of the Company’s half year and full year financial results), and for 24 hours after:
•

any major announcements;

•

the release of the Company’s annual financial results to the ASX/AIM; and

•

the annual general meeting.

Directors must advise the Chairman of the Board before buying or selling securities in the Company. All such transactions will
be reported to the Board and immediately reported to the Company’s Nomad, the ASX and the AIM market in accordance
with the requirements of the ASX Listing Rules, the AIM Rules and the Australian Corporations Act.
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Corporate Governance
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
Principle 4 – Safeguard Integrity In Financial Reporting
The Company requires the Managing Director to certify in writing to the Board that the Company’s financial statements are
in accordance with relevant accounting standards and are not misleading in any material respect.
The Audit Committee consists of Messrs de Belle, Lonergan and Neuss and chaired by Mr Stephen de Belle and their
attendance at meetings of the Committee are detailed in the Directors’ Report
In addition to attending to finance and accounting matters and reporting, in accordance with statutory, ASX and AIM
requirements, the Company seeks and takes guidance from its auditors regarding risk issues (such as identifying matters and
potential responses) and conflict issues (such as potential conflicts of interest, dealing with competing priorities, etc).
Recommendations Not Followed
The Company has yet to establish a formal audit committee charter:
The Audit Committee does not consist entirely of non executive Directors because there is not the minimum of three
independent Directors. The Board is actively seeking candidates to increase the number of Independent Directors.

Principle 5 – Make Timely and Balanced Disclosure
The Company has a policy that all the Company shareholders and investors have equal access to the Company’s
information. The Chairman of the Board ensures that all price sensitive information is disclosed to the ASX and AIM markets
in accordance with the continuous disclosure requirements of the ASX Listing Rules, the AIM Rules and the Australian
Corporations Act.
The Board of Directors’ aim is to ensure that the Company’s shareholders will be informed of all major developments affecting
The Company’s state of affairs. Information will be communicated to the Company’s shareholders in the following forms:
•

annual and half-yearly financial reports and quarterly reports;

•

annual and other general meetings convened for Shareholder review and approval of Board proposals;

•

continuous disclosure of material changes to ASX and AIM for open access to the public; and

•

the Company maintains a website where all ASX and AIM announcements, notices and financial reports are
published as soon as possible after release to the ASX and AIM.

Recommendations Not Followed
There is no written continuous disclosure policy or procedure as the unusually small number of key management personnel
are continuously in dialogue and are each well aware of their disclosure obligations

Principle 6 – Respect The Rights Of Shareholders
The Company respects the rights of its shareholders and to facilitate the effective exercise of those rights the
Company is committed to:
•

communicating effectively with shareholders through releases to the market via ASX, the Company’s web site,
information mailed to shareholders and the general meetings of the Company;

•

giving shareholders ready access to balanced and understandable information about the Company and
corporate proposals;

•

making it easy for shareholders to participate in general meetings of the Company; and

•

requesting the external auditor to attend the annual general meeting and be available to answer shareholder
questions about the conduct of the audit and the preparation and content of the auditor’s report.

The Company also makes available a telephone number and email address for shareholders to make enquiries of
the Company. The Company also maintains a website www.findersresources.com which is kept current.
Recommendations Not Followed
The Company does not have a written communication policy
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Corporate Governance
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
Principle 7 – Recognise and Manage Risk
The Board has identified the significant areas of potential business and legal risk of the Company.
The identification, monitoring and, where appropriate, the reduction of significant risk to the Company is the responsibility of
the Managing Director and the Board. Management reports to the Board on key risk issues at regular Board meetings. The
Board reviews and monitors the parameters under which such risks will be managed.
Financial Risk
Management accounts are prepared and reviewed with the Managing Director at subsequent Board meetings. The
Company maintains a rolling cash flow forecast model, which is maintained by reference to actual and estimated
expenditure amounts per existing agreements and actual cost updates. Budgets are prepared and compared against
actual results. The Company uses a calendar year budgeting period which is updated on a rolling monthly basis. The
Company’s budgets are prepared in USD for Indonesian operations and the Company typically deposits a portion of its
cash assets in USD. The Group does not currently hedge these currency risks.  
In addition to attending to finance and accounting matters and reporting, in accordance with statutory, ASX and AIM
requirements, the Company will be seeking and taking guidance from its auditors regarding risk issues (such as identifying
matters and potential responses) and conflict issues (such as potential conflicts of interest, dealing with competing priorities,
etc).
The Board is assured by the Managing Director that the declaration provided in accordance with section 295A of the
Corporations Act is founded on a sound system of risk management and internal control and that the system is operating
effectively in all material respects in relation to financial reporting risks.
Other Material Risks
There are numerous widespread risks associated with investing in any form of business and with investing in the share
market generally. Changes in the general economic climate in which Finders operates may adversely affect the financial
performance (that is future costs and revenues) of the Company and the value of its mineral assets. In particular, changes
in the current and expected future price of copper, silver, gold and other commodities can change rapidly and significantly
and this can have a substantial effect on the value of the Company’s assets and the potential future revenue and profits
that might be earned from any successful development of those assets.
Changes in government, monetary policies, taxation and other laws and regulations can also have a significant influence on
the outlook for projects and companies and the actual and potential returns to investors. Finders’ current two main project
interests are located in Indonesia. No assurance can be given regarding future stability in Indonesia. Whilst Finders is mindful
of this risk issue and takes it into account in respect of assessing the relative merits of opportunities and in management of
and exit planning for assets its investments may be materially adversely affected by political instability. These risk factors are
largely beyond the control of the Company and its Directors.
There is also a range of specific risks associated with the Company’s business and its involvement in the exploration industry.
The key material risks pertinent to an exploration stage Company identified by the Board and management protocols
follow:Exploration and Feasibility Risks
Exploration for minerals is speculative and involves significant degrees of risk. Feasibility studies on the potential development
of operations to exploit any mineral resources that are delineated may not prove positive. The Board is regularly updated on
project activities and results and relies on the experience of the Management Team.
Resource and Reserve Estimates
Finders adheres to the JORC Code for the reporting of its Mineral Resources.
Grant of Licences
All of the Projects in which the Company has an interest will be subject to application for tenement renewal from time to
time. Renewal of the term of each Tenement is subject to applicable legislation. The Directors are not aware of any reason
why renewal of the term of any Tenement will not be granted.
Reliance on Key Personnel and Retention of Key Business Relationships
Finders relies on the ability of Finders’ executive personnel and Directors, its Management Team and on strategic relationships
with other entities, such as its Indonesian partners, regulatory and governmental departments and contracted service
providers. The Board strives to keep these relationships in good standing.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
Recommendations Not Followed
The Company has established formal policies for financial risks only
The Company has not established or published specific policies for managing material business risks as those risks, associated
with exploration and potential development are being assessed and managed on a daily basis.
The Company has no specific internal control system to manage risk other than through the initiative of its key management
personnel.

Principle 8 – Remunerate Fairly And Responsibly
The Remuneration Committee consists of Messrs de Belle and Lonergan and chaired by Mr Stephen Lonergan and their
attendance at meetings of the Committee are detailed in the Directors’ Report
Remuneration has been and will continue to be set on the basis which reflects both the state of the market and appropriate
incentives based upon the overall performance of the Company. The remuneration policy, which sets the terms and
conditions for senior executives, was developed by the Remuneration Committee All executives receive a base salary,
superannuation and may benefit from the Company’s Performance Bonus Plan. The Board (including non-executives) are
remunerated by means of a fixed annual salary and superannuation, having regard to the norms in comparable companies
from time to time.
There are no schemes for retirement benefits other than statutory superannuation for both executives and non-executive
directors.
The board expects that the remuneration structure implemented will result in the Company being able to attract and retain
the best executives. It will also provide executives with the necessary incentives to work to grow long-term shareholder
value. The policy complies with the four key principles of IFSA Guidance Note 02–16.
The Performance Bonus Plan is developed and agreed by the Remuneration Committee with the aim of providing alignment
between executives and shareholders interests in respect of the financial performance of the Company, with priority given
to distributions to shareholders as the key indicator of performance. The payment of bonuses, options and other incentive
payments are reviewed by the Remuneration Committee annually as part of the review of executive remuneration and
a recommendation is put to the Board for approval. All bonuses, options and incentives must be linked to predetermined
performance criteria. The Board can exercise its discretion in relation to approving incentives, bonuses and options and can
recommend changes to the Committee’s recommendations. Any changes must be justified by reference to measurable
performance criteria.
The Company has scope, pursuant to its Share Incentive Plan to issue fully paid shares (to a maximum of 5% of total shares)
to individuals where the Board considers this is warranted – such as in order to attract and incentivise highly competent
and experienced personnel to join the team. Messrs Fountain, Farmer and Neuss are, subject to Shareholders approval in
accordance with the requirements of the Australian Corporations Act 2001 and the Australian Securitites Exchange Listing
Rules, eligible to participate in the Company’s Share Incentive Plan.
The amount of remuneration for all directors and the five highest paid executives, including all monetary and nonmonetary components, are detailed on page 27. All remuneration paid to executives is valued at the cost to the
Company and expensed. Shares issued to executives are valued as the difference between the market price of
those shares and the amount paid by the executive. Any Options issued as remuneration would be valued using, an
appropriate methodology including the Black-Scholes methodology.
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Remuneration Summary
Person & Role

Agreed Remuneration Package

Russell Fountain – Executive Chairman
Minimum 2.5 days per week commitment to Company
business.
4 year contract period which commenced when the
Company listed on the AIM on 22 March 2006.
Chris Farmer – Managing Director
Full time basis with 4 year contract period which commenced
when the Company listed on the AIM on 22 March 2006.

A$140,000 pa plus a performance bonus of up to 100%.

A$250,000 pa plus a performance bonus of up to 100%.
Any earnings from commitments to other Finders Group
companies shall be offset against the above.

Ian Neuss – Alternate Director & Development and
Acquisitions Manager
2.5 days per week commitment to Company business
4 year contract period which commenced when the
Company listed on the AIM on 22 March 2006.

A$100,000 pa plus a performance bonus of up to 100%.

The non-executive Directors, Stephen de Belle and Stephen Lonergan, receive Directors fees of A$36,000 pa.
The Company provides Director’s insurance cover for each of its Directors. There are no retirement or analogous benefits
for Directors.
Directors may provide to any other person, firm or Company, services the same as or similar to the services undertaken on
behalf of the Company if:
•

the provision of such services does not in any way impair or hinder the performance by the Director in his duties
for the Company

•

in the case of a Company listed on any stock exchange, the Director first obtains the consent of the Company’s
directors before providing such services to that Company;

•

such services are not provided to an individual or Company involved in the minerals and/or mining industry,
except Geopacific Resources N.L. and its subsidiaries, without written consent of the Company’s Board.

Recommendations Not Followed
The Company has not established or published specific policies for managing material business risks as those risks, associated
with exploration and potential development are being assessed and managed on a daily basis.
The Company has no specific internal control system to manage risk other than through the initiative of its key management
personnel
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Your directors present their report on the company and its controlled entities for the financial
year ended 30 June 2008.
Directors
The names of directors in office at any time during or since the end of the year are:
-

Dr Russell Fountain

-

Dr Chris Farmer

-

Mr Stephen de Belle

-

Mr Steve Lonergan

-

Mr Ian Neuss (alternate for Dr. Russell Fountain)

Directors have been in office since the start of the financial year to the date of this report unless otherwise
stated.

Principal Activities
The principal activity of the Consolidated Group during the financial year was to build a profitable mid-tier metal
mining and exploration company with a focus on advancing projects with near term development potential.
There were no significant changes in the nature of the Consolidated Group’s principal activities during the
financial year.

Operating Results
The consolidated loss of the Consolidated Group, after providing for income tax and eliminating minority equity
interests amounted to $5,261,547 (2007 $6,152,805). The Consolidated Group earned no sales revenue during
the year (2007 $Nil).

Dividends Paid or Recommended
There were no dividends paid or declared by the Company to members during or since the end of the financial
year.

Review of Operations
Wetar Copper Project – Indonesia
The Wetar Copper Project is located in eastern Indonesia. The project is the site of a former gold mine operation
by Billiton between 1991 and 1997 and comprises two main deposits, Kali Kuning and Lerokis, both within 5km of
the coast.  The Consolidated Group’s activities during the financial year focused on a Feasibility Study to assess
20-25,000 tonnes per annum copper cathode production and includes the commencement of production of
a demonstration 5tpd copper cathode facility. Exploration activities focused on generating new prospects to
expand the existing resource base.
Ojolali Gold-Silver Project – Indonesia
The Ojolali gold and silver exploration project is located in rolling countryside within 2km of a major highway
and 5km from grid power on the island of Sumatra, Indonesia. This district contains widespread gold and silver
mineralization which has been investigated during the financial year by means of extensive geochemical
surveys and reverse circulation drilling at the Jambi prospect, to provide the basis for a new resource estimate
and metallurgical sampling. During the financial year, gold resources at Jambi increased by 33% to 4mt @ 1.1g/t
Au (on a 100% project basis).
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Financial Position
The net assets of the Consolidated Group have increased during the financial year by $2,509,265 to $9,998,484
(2007 $7,489,219). This increase has resulted mainly from share issues during the financial year which have allowed
the Consolidated Group to maintain its cash position and incur development expenditure on the Wetar project.
Directors believe the Consolidated Group is sufficiently funded to achieve its current project milestones.

Significant Changes in State of Affairs
The following significant changes in the state of affairs of the Consolidated Group occurred during the financial
year:
i.

On 3 January 2008, the company issued 4,000,000 new ordinary fully paid shares for a total of $4,400,000
cash;

ii.

On 11 January 2008, the company issued 5,165,289 new ordinary fully paid shares for a total of $5,681,818
cash as part of financing agreement between the company, Tennant Metals Pty Ltd, and Meridian
International Capital Limited;
Also as part of this agreement, the company was eligible to draw down loan facilities from Meridian
International Capital Limited up to the total amount of US$5,000,000; and

iii.

The Meridian International Capital Limited loan amount drawn by the Company at 30 June 2008 totalled
US$3,975,000 (equivalent to AU$4,216,659), leaving US$1,025,000 (equivalent to A$1,087,315) loan funds
still available.

Changes in controlled entities:
i.

On 13 March 2008, the company increased its investment in its Indonesia subsidiary, PT Batutua Tembaga
Raya, to meet the Indonesian Investment Board regulations, and this investment at 30 June 2008 totalled
US$10,000 (equivalent to A$10,891);

ii.

On 13 March 2008, the company’s subsidiary Banda Minerals Pty Ltd also increased its investment in PT
Batutua Tembaga Raya to meet the Indonesian Investment Board regulations, and this investment at
30 June 2008 totalled US$1,740,000 (equivalent to A$1,927,155); and

iii.

The company’s subsidiary Finders Resources NZ Ltd, an unlisted New Zealand public company, was
incorporated on 30 June 2008 to facilitate the acquisition of an ocean-going vessel which will be used
for transportation of people and stores to the mine site at Wetar.

After Balance Date Events
There has not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this report any item,
transaction or event of a material and unusual nature likely, in the opinion of the directors of the Company, to
affect significantly the operations of the Consolidated Group, the results of those operations, or the state of
affairs of the Consolidated Group, in future financial years; except for the following:

i.

The company has experienced supplier delays for key equipment for the Wetar demonstration plant.
This has resulted in increased costs and delay to planned revenue; and

ii. The Directors approved:
a) A placement of up to 8,333,333 ordinary fully paid shares at a price of A$0.60 each (or ₤ 0.28
each for certain investors), on 2 September 2008, subject to shareholder approval; and

b) A Share Purchase Plan where each shareholder or depositary interest holder is able to invest up
to A$5,000, also at a price of A$0.60 each (or ₤ 0.28 each for depositary interest holders).

Future Developments, Prospects and Business Strategies
The Company’s vision is to build on the success of the Wetar Copper Project where the demonstration plant is
scheduled, subject to delivery of equipment, to produce initial copper cathode from November 2008.
The company intends to build on short-term cash inflows from Wetar; expand to a full scale Wetar Cooper
Project; and focus on the Company’s project portfolio by sequential development of pipeline projects.
The Ojolali gold-silver project, particularly the Jambi Oxide gold deposit, represents a potential follow-on project.
Further growth will be generated through brownfields exploration and ongoing assessment of new projects with
high growth potential.
Financial Statements 2008
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Specific objectives include:
Development of the Wetar Copper Project as a low cost copper producer targeting 25,000 tpa copper
i.
production from 31 December 2009;
ii. Progressive development at Ojolali, with a low cost start-up oxide gold mining operation to provide
cash inflows while unlocking the outstanding potential for additional discovery in the surrounding
mineral district;

iii.

Close monitoring of the Company’s investment in Geopacific Resources NL; and

iv.

Identifying new undervalued assets for low cost acquisition.

Environmental Issues
In each of the Consolidated Group’s project areas, the Company has engaged reputed independent
consultants to undertake extensive environmental studies. The results of these studies are communicated to the
appropriate local Indonesian authorities.
The Company is not aware of any endangered species of flora or fauna in the Consolidated Group’s project
areas. Projects are subject to relevant environmental regulation and will themselves have varying levels and
types of potential impact on the natural environment.
Exploration work is intended to be carried out to cause minimum impact on the environment. The Consolidated
Group is required to comply with Indonesian laws and regulations regarding environmental matters, including
disturbance and rehabilitation issues and the discharge of hazardous waste and materials.
In addition, the Consolidated Group will continue to adopt “best practice” environmental management
techniques from the wider mining community, particularly Australian standards of operation.

Information on Directors
Dr Russell Fountain

—

Executive Chairman

Qualifications

—

BSc (University of Sydney), PhD (University of Sydney), FAIG.

Experience

—

Dr Fountain has 40 years of successful international
experience in all aspects of mineral exploration, project
feasibility and development of mining projects. Board
member and Chairman since the company’s incorporation
on 30 March 2004.
5,847,869 Ordinary Shares in Finders Resources Ltd.
133,333 Options in Finders Resources Ltd exercise price 50
cents each and expiring 20 March 2009.
Member of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee.

Direct and Indirect Interest in Shares —
and Options
Special Responsibilities

—

Directorships held in listed entities

—

Current director of Geopacific Resources NL (since quotation
commencing 9 May 2006).

Dr Chris Farmer

—

Managing Director

Qualifications

—

Experience

—

Direct Interest in Shares and Options —

BSc (Hons) (University of Southampton), MBA (Ashridge), PHD
(Royal School of Mines, Imperial College).
Dr Farmer has 15 years of international experience in all
aspects of exploration, with a strong emphasis on business
development. Board member since the company’s
incorporation on 30 March 2004.
5,381,202 Ordinary Shares in Finders Resources Ltd.

Special Responsibilities

—

Nil

Directorships held in listed entities

—

Nil
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Mr Stephen de Belle

—

Non-Executive Director

Qualifications

—

Experience

—

BA (Macquarie University), MSc (London University), MTCP
(University of Sydney).
Mr de Belle has been closely involved with the start-up and
operation of iron ore, coal, base metals, gold and petroleum
projects and companies, and has particular expertise in the
development and financing of projects in the resources and
infrastructure sectors both in Australia and overseas. Board
member since 27 November 2004.
1,812,999 Ordinary Shares in Finders Resources Ltd.
134,000 Options in Finders Resources Ltd exercise price 50
cents each and expiring 20 March 2009.
Chairman of the Audit, Remuneration and Nomination
Committees.
Currently a director of Midwest Corporation Limited
(appointed 10 April 2003); and Mantle Mining Corporation
Limited (appointed 3 July 2006).

Direct and Indirect Interest in Shares —
and Options
Special Responsibilities

—

Directorships held in listed entities

—

Mr Steve Lonergan

—

Non-Executive Director

Qualifications

—

LLB (Australian National University), LLM (McGill University).

Experience

—

Mr Lonergan specialises in corporate and commercial law as
a private practitioner. He has been involved in acquisitions
and exploration arrangements both in Australia and
overseas. Board member since 22 March 2005.
41,600 Ordinary Shares in Finders Resources Ltd.
20,800 Options in Finders Resources Ltd exercise price 50
cents each and expiring 20 March 2009.
Member of the Audit, Remuneration and Nomination
Committees.
Paradigm Metals Limited (since quotation commencing 18
November 2003).

Direct Interest in Shares and Options —
Special Responsibilities

—

Directorships held in listed entities

—

Mr Ian Neuss

—

Alternate Executive Director

Qualifications

—

Experience

—

Special Responsibilities

—

BSc (Hons) (University of New England), Dip. Ed (University of
New England), MSc (University of Birmingham), FAIG, FAICD.
Mr Neuss has over 36 years mining experience and has held
various positions where he was responsible for commercial
operations and exploration, building overseas mining
interests and minerals portfolios leading to successful joint
ventures, financial investments and mines. Board member
since the Company’s incorporation on 30 March 2004, and
until 23 March 2006. Alternate Director for Mr Fountain since
23 March 2006.
5,736,543 Ordinary Shares in Finders Resources Ltd.
102,400 Options in Finders Resources Ltd exercise price 50
cents each and expiring 20 March 2009.
Member of the Audit Committee

Directorships held in listed entities

—

Nil

Direct and Indirect Interest in Shares —
and Options
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Company Secretary
The following person held the position of company secretary at the end of the financial year:

Mr Ian Morgan
Qualifications

—

B Bus, CA, ACIS, MAICD, F Fin

Experience

—

Mr. Morgan is a Chartered Accountant and
Chartered Company Secretary, with over 25 years
experience. He provides secretarial and advisory
services to a range of companies, and is company
secretary of other publicly listed companies. Mr
Morgan was appointed Company Secretary on 27
November 2004.

Remuneration report
This report details the nature and amount of remuneration for each key management person of Finders Resources
Limited, and for the executives receiving the highest remuneration.
Remuneration policy
The remuneration policy of Finders Resources Limited has been designed to align key management personnel
objectives with shareholder and business objectives by providing a fixed remuneration component and offering
specific long-term incentives based on key performance areas affecting the Consolidated Group’s financial
results. The board of directors believes the remuneration policy will result in the company being able to attract
and retain the best key management personnel to run and manage the Consolidated Group, as well as create
goal congruence between directors, executives and shareholders.
Remuneration has been and will continue to be set on the basis which reflects both the state of the market
and appropriate incentives based upon the overall performance of the Company. The remuneration policy,
which sets the terms and conditions for senior executives, was developed by the Remuneration and Nomination
Committee, after seeking professional advice from independent consultants, and was approved by the
board.
All key management personnel receive a base salary, superannuation and may benefit from the Company’s
Performance Bonus Plan. The Board (including non-executives) are remunerated by means of a fixed annual
salary and superannuation, having regard to comparable companies from time to time.
The employment conditions of the managing director, the executive chairman and specified executives are
formalised in contracts of employment. The managing director is a permanent employee of Finders Resources
Limited, whilst other executives are employed on a permanent part-time basis. They are all employed under
fixed 4-year contracts, which commenced on 1 February 2006 and expire on 1 February 2010.
These employment contracts stipulate a range of one- to four-month resignation periods. The company may
terminate an employment contract without cause by providing 1 months written notice and making  a lump
sum termination payment equal to the amount which would have been received under the agreement for
one half of the portion of the contract which remained had there been no early termination or twelve months,
whichever is the greater. Termination payments are generally not payable on resignation or dismissal for serious
misconduct. In the instance of serious misconduct the company can terminate employment at any time. Any
options not exercised before or on the date of termination will lapse.
Board policy is to remunerate non-executive directors at market rates for time, commitment and responsibilities.
The Remuneration and Nomination Committee determines payments to the non-executive directors and
reviews their remuneration annually, based on market practice, duties and accountability. Independent
external advice is sought when required.
The maximum aggregate amount of fees that can be paid to non-executive directors is subject to approval by
shareholders at an Annual General Meeting. Fees for non-executive directors are not linked to the performance
of the Consolidated Group. However, to align directors’ interests with shareholder interests, the directors are
encouraged to hold shares in the company and will be able to participate in the employee incentive share
plan. There are no schemes for retirement benefits other than statutory superannuation for both executives and
non-executive directors.
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Performance-based remuneration
The Performance Bonus Plan was developed and agreed by the Remuneration and Nomination Committee
with the aim of providing alignment between executives and shareholders’ interests in respect of the financial
performance of the Company, with priority given to distributions to shareholders as the key indicators of
performance. The payment of bonuses, options and other incentive payments are reviewed by the Remuneration
and Nomination Committee annually as part of the review of executive remuneration and a recommendation is
put to the board for approval. All bonuses, options and incentives must be linked to predetermined performance
criteria. The board can exercise its discretion in relation to approving incentives, bonuses and options and can
recommend changes to the Remuneration and Nomination Committee’s recommendations. Any changes
must be justified by reference to measurable performance criteria.
For the year ended June 2008 the Remuneration and Nomination Committee recommended and the Board
endorsed five key areas of importance and targets for management:
i. agreement for funding for heap test & feasibility study executed by 30 December 2007;
ii. initial production of cathode copper from pilot heap leach test by 30 March 2008;
iii. Wetar bankable feasibility study completed by 30 June 2008;
iv. Drilling of Jambi complete & detailed scoping study for Jambi completed by 30 March 2008;
v. Completion of metallurgical study of Tambang by 30 June 2008.
The first was achieved and subsequent items have slipped, roughly by 6 months each, due largely to the
overheated nature of the resources construction sector. In addition, part of the metallurgical work regarding
Tambang was deliberately deferred to facilitate more focussed efforts on Wetar (in particular) and Jambi. What
is possibly the key item, initial production of cathode copper, is now anticipated to be achieved in November
2008.
The Company has scope, pursuant to its Share Incentive Plan, to issue fully paid shares (to a maximum of 5%
of total shares) to individuals where the Board considers this is warranted – such as in order to reward highly
competent and experienced personnel to join the team. Messrs Fountain, Farmer and Neuss are not eligible to
participate in the Company’s Share Incentive Plan.
Company performance, shareholder wealth and director and executive remuneration
The remuneration policy has been tailored to increase goal congruence between shareholders, directors and
executives. The method applied in achieving this aim is a performance based bonus on meeting the targets
noted above.
The remuneration targets noted above represent material milestones for the Company in terms of advancing the
projects toward completion of development and hence are fundamentally related to focusing management
effort on enhancing the value of the Company and shareholder wealth.
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Details of remuneration for year ended 30 June 2008
The remuneration for each director and each of the executive officers of the Consolidated Group receiving the
highest remuneration during the year was as follows:

Post
Employment

Short Term Benefits

2008

Related Party
Superannuation
Payments

Total

Proportion of
remuneration
performance
related

Salary & Fees

Cash Bonus

$

$

$

$

$

-

50,000

92,014

78,480

220,494

22.6%

245,443

50,000

-

24,149

319,592

15.6%

18,000

-

18,000

3,240

39,240

-

-

-

-

39,240

39,240

-

-

-

105,600

-

105,600

-

-

-

81,161

-

81,161

-

102,202

-

47,798

-

150,000

-

365,645

100,000

344,573

145,109

955,327

Directors
Dr Russell Fountain (Executive
Chairman)
Dr Chris Farmer (Managing
Director)
Mr Stephen de Belle (Non
executive Director)
Mr Steve Lonergan (Non
executive Director)
Mr Ian Neuss (Alternate
Executive Director to Dr
Fountain)
Executives
Mr Dominic Barrington
(Commercial Manager)
Mr Grant Harding (Operations
Manager commenced 12
September 2007)

Post
Employment

Short Term Benefits

2007

Related Party
Superannuation
Payments

Total

Proportion of
remuneration
performance
related

Salary & Fees

Cash Bonus

$

$

$

$

$

-

-

92,014

52,320

144,334

-

223,893

-

-

-

223,893

-

18,000

-

18,000

1,620

37,620

-

-

-

-

37,620

37,620

-

-

-

106,000

-

106,000

-

-

-

35,053

-

35,053

-

241,893

-

251,067

91,560

584,520

Directors
Dr Russell Fountain (Executive
Chairman)
Dr Chris Farmer (Managing
Director)
Mr Stephen de Belle (Non
executive Director)
Mr Steve Lonergan (Non
executive Director)
Mr Ian Neuss (Alternate
Executive Director to Dr
Fountain)
Executives
Mr Dominic Barrington
(Commercial Manager)
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Performance income as a proportion of total remuneration
Executive directors are paid performance based bonuses based on set monetary figures, rather than proportions
of their salary. This has led to the proportions of remuneration related to performance varying between individuals.
The Remuneration and Nomination Committee has set these bonuses to encourage achievement of specific
targets that have been given a high level of importance to the future growth of the consolidated group.
The Remuneration and Nomination Committee will review the performance bonuses to gauge their effectiveness
against achievement of set targets, and adjust future years’ incentives as they see fit, to ensure use of the most
cost effective and efficient methods.
Options issued as part of remuneration for the year ended 30 June 2008
No options were issued to Directors and Executives as part of their remuneration during the financial year ended
30 June 2008 (2007 Nil).

Meetings of Directors
Attendances by each director during the year were as follows:
Committee Meetings
Directors’ Meetings

Audit
Committee
Number
Number
eligible to attended
attend

Remuneration and
Nomination Committee
Number
Number
attended
eligible to
attend

Number
eligible to
attend

Number
attended

Dr Russell Fountain

7

7

-

-

-

-

Mr Ian Neuss *

-

-

1

1

-

-

Dr Chris Farmer

7

7

-

-

-

-

Mr Stephen de Belle

7

6

1

1

1

1

Mr Steve Lonergan

7

7

1

1

1

1

* Alternate for Dr Russell Fountain

Indemnifying Directors and Other Officers
During or since the end of the financial year the company has given an indemnity or entered into an agreement
to indemnify, or paid or agreed to pay insurance premiums as follows:
The company has paid premiums to insure all directors and other officers against costs and expenses incurred by
them in defending any legal proceedings arising out of their conduct while acting in the capacity of director or
other officer of the company, other than conduct involving a wilful breach of duty in relation to the company.
The total amount of the premium was $24,577 (2007 $92,274).

Options
At the date of this report, the unissued ordinary shares of Finders Resources Limited under option are as follows:
Option Grant Date

Date of Expiry

Exercise Price

Number under Option

27 April 2005

20 March 2009

$0.50

2,257,500

21 November 2005

20 March 2009

$0.50

832,867

22 March 2006

22 March 2009

24 UK pence

1,322,881

13 June 2007

13 June 2010

$0.6875

500,000
4,913,248
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During or since the year ended 30 June 2008, the following ordinary shares of the Company were issued on the
exercise of options granted. No amounts are unpaid on any of the shares.

Option Grant Date

Issue price of Shares

Number of Shares Issued

27 April 2005

$0.50

100,000

21 November 2005

$0.50

11,500
111,500

Proceedings on Behalf of Company
No person has applied for leave of Court to bring proceedings on behalf of the company or intervene in any
proceedings to which the company is a party for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the company for
all or any part of those proceedings.
The company was not a party to any such proceedings during the year.

Non-audit Services
The board of directors, in accordance with advice from the audit committee, is satisfied that the provision of nonaudit services during the year is compatible with the general standard of independence for auditors imposed by the
Corporations Act 2001. The directors are satisfied that the services disclosed below did not compromise the external
auditor’s independence for the following reasons:

•

all non-audit services are reviewed and approved by the audit committee prior to commencement to ensure
they do not adversely affect the integrity and objectivity of the auditor; and

•

the nature of the services provided do not compromise the general principles relating to auditor independence
in accordance with APES 110: Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants set by the Accountants Professional
and Ethical Standards Board.

The following fees for non-audit services were paid or payable to the external auditors during the year ended 30 June
2008:
MYOB System Implementation

$
12,245

Systems Review

10,595

Taxation Services

13,500
36,340

Auditor’s Independence Declaration
The lead auditor’s independence declaration for the year ended 30 June 2008 has been received and can be found
on page 35.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors.
Dr Russell Fountain, Director

Mr Stephen de Belle, Director
Dated this 15 September 2008
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Level 5, 285 George St
Sydney NSW 2000
PO Box H88
Australia Square NSW 1215
Ph. (02) 9290 3099
Fax (02) 9262 2502
Email: add3@addca.com.au
Website: www.addca.com.au

!
AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION
UNDER SECTION 307C OF THE CORPORATIONS ACT 2001
TO THE DIRECTORS OF FINDERS RESOURCES LTD AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, during the year ended 30 June 2008 there has been:
i.

No contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out in the Corporations Act 2001 in relation
to the audit; and

ii.

No contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

ALCOCK DAVIS DANIELI
Chartered Accountants

Sam Danieli
Partner

Sydney, 15 September 2008

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standard Legislation             
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Level 5, 285 George St
Sydney NSW 2000
PO Box H88
Australia Square NSW 1215
Ph. (02) 9290 3099
Fax (02) 9262 2502
Email: add3@addca.com.au
Website: www.addca.com.au

!
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF
FINDERS RESOURCES LTD
A.B.N. 82 108 547 413
Report on the Financial Report
We have audited the accompanying financial report of Finders Resources Ltd (the company) and Finders
Resources Ltd and Controlled Entities (the Consolidated Group), which comprises the balance sheet as at
30 June 2008 and the income statement, statement of changes in equity and cash flow statement for the
year ended on that date, a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes and the
directors’ declaration of the Consolidated Group comprising the company and the entities it controlled at the
year’s end or from time to time during the financial year.
As permitted by the Corporations Regulations 2001, the company has disclosed information about the
remuneration of directors and executives (remuneration disclosures), required by Accounting Standard AASB
124: Related Party Disclosures, under the heading ‘Remuneration Report’ on pages 30 to 33 in the directors’
report and not in the financial report.
Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Report
The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report
in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and
the Corporations Act 2001.  This responsibility includes establishing and maintaining internal control relevant to
the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report that is free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates
that are reasonable in the circumstances.  In Note 1, the directors also state, in accordance with Accounting
Standard AASB 101: Presentation of Financial Statements, that compliance with the Australian equivalents to
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) ensures that the financial report, comprising the financial
statements and notes, complies with IFRS.
The directors also are responsible for preparation and presentation of the remuneration disclosures contained in
the directors’ report in accordance with the Corporations Regulations 2001.
Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted our audit in
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. These Auditing Standards require that we comply with relevant
ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance whether the financial report is free from material misstatement and that the remuneration disclosures
in the directors’ report comply with Accounting Standard AASB 124.
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks
of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial
report in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the
directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report and the remuneration disclosures
in the directors’ report.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion.
Independence
In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations Act
2001.  We confirm that the independence declaration required by the Corporations Act 2001, provided to the
directors of Finders Resources Ltd on 15 September, would be in the same terms if provided to the directors as
at the date of this auditor’s report.
Auditor’s Opinion
In our opinion:
a.

the financial report of Finders Resources Ltd and Finders Resources Ltd and Controlled Entities is in
accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:
i.
giving a true and fair view of the company’s and Consolidated Group’s financial position
as at 30 June 2008 and of their performance for the year ended on that date; and
ii.
complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting
Interpretations) and the Corporations Regulations 2001;
the financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in
Note 1; and
the remuneration disclosures that are contained on pages 30 to 33 in the directors’ report comply
with Accounting Standard AASB 124.

b.
c.

ALCOCK DAVIS DANIELI
Chartered Accountants

Sam Danieli
Partner
Sydney, 15 September 2008
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DIRECTOR’S DECLARATION
The directors of the company declare that:

1. the financial statements and notes, as set out on pages 39 to 63, are in accordance with the Corporations
Act 2001 and:
a.

comply with Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and

b.

give a true and fair view of the financial position as at 30 June 2008 and of the performance for the year
ended on that date of the Company and Consolidated Group;

2. the Chief Executive Officer has declared that:
a.

the financial records of the company for the financial year have been properly maintained in
accordance with section 286 of the Corporations Act 2001;

b.

the financial statements and notes for the financial year comply with the Accounting Standards; and

c.

the financial statements and notes for the financial year give a true and fair view;

3. in the directors’ opinion there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its
debts as and when they become due and payable.

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors.

Director ……………………………………………………………….…………………………………………………………………
Dr Russell Fountain

Director ………………………………………………………………………………….………………………………………………
Mr Stephen de Belle

Dated this 15 day of September 2008

38

Finders Resources Limited A.B.N. 82 108 547 413

Financial Report 2008
Finders Resources Limited
ABN 82 108 547 413 & Controlled Entities

INCOME STATEMENT FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2008
Note

Consolidated Group

Parent Entity

2008
$

2007
$

2008
$

2007
$

376,959

206,583

666,150

290,048

(1,509,680)

(1,012,061)

(1,072,765)

(612,270)

(55,913)

(16,800)

(4,721)

(1,375)

Exploration expenditure written off

(1,903,111)

(5,286,703)

(1,500)

-

Operating expenses

(3,583,649)

(1,935,278)

(1,089,596)

(946,208)

Loss before income tax

(6,675,394)

(8,044,259)

(1,502,432)

(1,269,805)

-

-

-

-

(6,675,394)

(8,044,259)

(1,502,432)

(1,269,805)

1,413,847

1,891,454

-

-

(5,261,547)

(6,152,805)

(1,502,432)

(1,269,805)

Revenue

2

Employee benefits expense
Depreciation expense

Income tax expense

4

Loss for the year
Loss attributable to minority equity interest
Loss attributable to members of the parent
entity

Overall Operations
Basic earnings per share (cents per share)

7

(7.52)

(11.37)

Diluted earnings per share (cents per share)

7

(7.02)

(10.49)

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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BALANCE SHEET AS AT 30 JUNE 2008
Note

Consolidated Group

Parent Entity

2008
$

2007
$

2008
$

2007
$

ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents

8

4,988,170

5,157,533

4,680,675

4,810,249

Trade and other receivables

9

425,289

203,460

208,927

50,573

Financial assets

10

128,921

-

-

-

Other assets

11

628,579

208,850

12,879

24,299

4,902,481

4,885,121

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS

6,170,959

5,569,843

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Trade and other receivables

9

-

-

18,685,467

5,898,191

Financial assets

10

378,141

2,301,000

5,443,843

7,379,886

Other assets

11

807,965

-

-

-

Plant and equipment

13

3,901,219

111,761

18,541

7,843

Development Expenditure

14

5,155,678

-

-

-

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS

10,243,003

2,412,761

24,147,851

13,285,920

TOTAL ASSETS

16,413,962

7,982,604

29,050,332

18,171,041

2,198,819

493,385

308,683

160,472

2,198,819

493,385

308,683

160,472

4,216,659

-

4,216,659

-

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

4,216,659

-

4,216,659

-

TOTAL LIABILITIES

6,415,478

493,385

4,525,342

160,472

NET ASSETS

9,998,484

24,524,990

18,010,569

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and other payables

15

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Financial Liabilities

16

7,489,219

EQUITY
Issued capital

17

28,025,197

18,061,344

28,025,197

18,061,344

Reserves

18

1,891,786

2,670,980

24,000

1,971,000

(19,918,499)

(13,243,105)

(3,524,207)

(2,021,775)

TOTAL EQUITY

9,998,484

7,489,219

24,524,990

18,010,569

Parent equity interest

9,998,477

7,489,212

24,524,990

18,010,569

7

7

-

-

9,998,484

7,489,219

24,524,990

18,010,569

Accumulated Losses

Minority equity interest
TOTAL EQUITY

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2008
Consolidated Group
Share
Capital

Losses

Ordinary
$
Balance at 30 June 2006

Foreign
Financial
Currency
Asset
Translation
Reserve
Reserve

Accumulated

$

$

$

Minority
Equity
Interests

Total

$

$

11,551,816

(4,359,083)

466,500

110,414

(662,768)

7,106,879

-

(80,706)

-

-

(51,507)

(132,213)

-

-

1,504,500

-

-

1,504,500

Shares issued during the year

6,983,898

-

-

-

-

6,983,898

Transaction costs

(474,370)

-

-

-

-

(474,370)

Loss attributable to members
of parent entity

-

(6,152,805)

-

-

- (6,152,805)

Loss attributable to minority
shareholders

-

-

-

- (1,891,454) (1,891,454)

Adjustments from translation
of foreign controlled entities

-

-

-

589,566

-

589,566

Adjustments for additional
investments in controlled
entities

-

(44,789)

-

-

-

(44,789)

Outside Equity Interests

-

-

-

-

7

7

18,061,344

(10,637,383)

1,971,000

699,980 (2,605,722)

7,489,219

Adjustment to controlled
entity’s audited accounts at
30 June 2006
Adjustment on application
of AASB 139 for fair value on
shares in listed entities

Balance at 30 June 2007
Adjustment on application
of AASB 139 for fair value on
shares in listed entities

- (1,947,000)

-

- (1,947,000)

Shares issued during the year 10,205,853

-

-

-

- 10,205,853

Transaction costs

(242,000)

-

-

-

-

Loss attributable to members
of parent entity

-

(5,261,547)

-

-

- (5,261,547)

Loss attributable to minority
shareholders

-

-

-

- (1,413,847) (1,413,847)

Adjustments from translation
of foreign controlled entities

-

-

-

28,025,197

(15,898,930)

24,000

Balance at 30 June 2008

-

1,167,806

(242,000)

-

1,167,806

1,867,786 (4,019,569)

9,998,484
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2008
Parent Entity
Share Capital Accumulated Financial Assets
Ordinary
Losses
Reserve
$
Balance at 30 June 2006

$

$

Total

$

11,551,816

(751,970)

466,500

11,266,346

-

-

1,504,500

1,504,500

Shares issued during the year

6,983,898

-

-

6,983,898

Share issue transaction costs

(474,370)

-

-

(474,370)

-

(1,269,805)

-

(1,269,805)

18,061,344

(2,021,775)

1,971,000

18,010,569

-

-

(1,947,000)

(1,947,000)

10,205,853

-

-

10,205,853

(242,000)

-

-

(242,000)

-

(1,502,432)

-

(1,502,432)

28,025,197

(3,524,207)

24,000

24,524,990

Adjustment on application of AASB 139
for fair value on shares in listed entities

Loss attributable to members of parent
entity
Balance at 30 June 2007
Adjustment on application of AASB 139
for fair value on shares in listed entities
Shares issued during the year
Share issue transaction costs
Loss attributable to members of parent
entity
Balance at 30 June 2008

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2008
Note

Consolidated Group
2008
$

Parent Entity

2007
$

2008
$

2007
$

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES
Payments to suppliers and
employees

(4,912,057)

(7,212,509)

(1,799,345)

(1,457,283)

331,587

123,541

331,587

123,541

21

(4,580,470)

(7,088,968)

(1,467,758)

(1,333,742)

12

(3,860, 576)

(124,540)

(15,419)

(9,218)

-

-

-

(44,789)

(5,155,678)

-

-

-

(9,016,254)

(124,540)

(15,419)

(54,007)

10,132,353

6,983,898

10,132,353

6,983,898

(242,000)

(474,370)

(242,000)

(474,370)

-

-

(12,787,276)

(5,988,763)

4,216,659

-

4,216,659

-

14,107,012

6,509,528

1,319,736

520,765

510,288

(703,980)

(163,441)

(866,984)

Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of financial year

5,157,533

5,809,230

4,810,249

5,678,568

Effect of exchange rates on cash
holdings in foreign currencies

(679,651)

52,283

33,867

(1,335)

4,988,170

5,157,533

4,680,675

4,810,249

Interest received
Net cash used in operating activities
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING
ACTIVITIES
Purchase of property, plant and
equipment
Purchase of investments
Development expenditure

13

Net cash provided by used in
investing activities
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issue of shares
Share issue transaction costs
Loans to controlled entities
Proceeds from borrowings

15

Net cash provided by financing
activities
Net increase / (decrease) in cash
held

Cash and cash equivalents at end
of financial year

8

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2008
Note 1: Statement of Significant Accounting Policies
This financial report includes the consolidated financial statements and notes of Finders Resources Ltd and
controlled entities (‘Consolidated Group’ or ‘Group’), and the separate financial statements and notes of
Finders Resources Ltd as an individual parent entity (‘Parent Entity’).
Basis of Preparation
The financial report is a general purpose financial report that has been prepared in accordance with Australian
Accounting Standards, including Australian Accounting Interpretations, other authoritative pronouncements of
the Australian Accounting Standards Board and the Corporations Act 2001.
Finders Resources Limited is a public company, incorporated and domiciled in Australia whose shares are traded
on the AIM market of the London Stock Exchange and the Australian Securities Exchange (ASX).
The financial report covers the Consolidated Group of Finders Resources Ltd and controlled entities, and Finders
Resources Ltd as an individual parent entity.
The following is a summary of the material accounting policies adopted by the Consolidated Group in the
preparation of the financial report. The accounting policies have been consistently applied, unless otherwise
stated.
Accounting Policies
a. Principles of Consolidation
A controlled entity is any entity Finders Resources Ltd has the power to govern the financial and operating
policies of so as to obtain benefits from its activities. In assessing the power to govern, the existence and
effect of holdings of actual and potential voting rights are considered.
A list of controlled entities is contained in Note 12 to the financial statements. All financial statements are
prepared as of the same reporting date. Where a controlled entity has a different year end reporting date
than the parent, additional financial statements are prepared to align the reporting dates.
All inter-company balances and transactions between entities in the Consolidated Group, including any
unrealised profits or losses, have been eliminated on consolidation. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have
been changed where necessary to ensure consistencies with those policies applied by the parent entity.
Where controlled entities have entered or left the Consolidated Group during the year, their operating results
have been included/excluded from the date control was obtained or until the date control ceased.
Minority interests, being that portion of the profit or loss and net assets of subsidiaries attributable to equity
interests held by persons outside the group, are shown separately within the Equity section of the consolidated
Balance Sheet and in the consolidated Income Statement.
b. Income Tax

c.

The charge for current income tax expense is based on the profit for the year adjusted for any nonassessable or disallowed items. It is calculated using the tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted
or are subsequently enacted by the reporting date.
Current tax losses for current and prior periods are not recognised as an asset as the future income tax
benefit can be carried forward as an asset, only where realisation of the benefit can be regarded as being
probable.
Plant and Equipment
Each class of plant and equipment is carried at cost or fair value less, where applicable, any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses.
Plant and equipment are measured on the cost basis.
The carrying amount of plant and equipment is reviewed annually by directors to ensure it is not in excess of
the recoverable amount from these assets.
Depreciation
Fixed assets are depreciated over their useful lives to the Consolidated Group commencing from the time
the asset is held ready for use.

The depreciation rates used for each class of depreciable assets are:
Class of Fixed Asset

Depreciation Rate

Computer and Office Equipment

25%

Motor Vehicles

25%

Machinery

12.5%

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance
sheet date.
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d.

e.

f.

Exploration and Development Expenditure
Exploration expenditure incurred is recorded in respect of each project area. At this stage, these expenditures
have been fully written off.
Development expenditure incurred is accumulated in respect of each identifiable area of interest. These
costs are only carried forward to the extent that they are expected to be recouped through the successful
development of the area or where activities in the area have not yet reached a stage that permits
reasonable assessment of the existence of economically recoverable reserves.
Accumulated costs in relation to an abandoned area are written off in full against profit in the year in which
the decision to abandon the area is made.
When production commences, the accumulated costs for the relevant area of interest are amortised over
the life of the area according to the rate of depletion of the economically recoverable reserves.
A regular review is undertaken of each area of interest to determine the appropriateness of continuing to
carry forward costs in relation to that area of interest.
Costs of site restoration are provided over the life of the facility from when exploration commences and
are included in the costs of that stage. Site restoration costs include the dismantling and removal of mining
plant, equipment and building structures, waste removal, and rehabilitation of the site in accordance with
clauses of the mining permits. Such costs have been determined using estimates of future costs, current
legal requirements and technology on an undiscounted basis.
Any changes in the estimates for the costs are accounted on a prospective basis. In determining the costs
of site restoration, there is uncertainty regarding the nature and extent of the restoration due to community
expectations and future legislation. Accordingly the costs have been determined on the basis that the
restoration will be completed within one year of abandoning the site.
Leases
Lease payments for operating leases, where substantially all the risks and benefits remain with the lessor, are
charged as expenses in the periods in which they are incurred.
Financial Instruments
Recognition and Initial Measurement
Financial instruments, incorporating financial assets and financial liabilities, are recognised when the entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Trade date accounting is adopted for
financial assets that are delivered within timeframes established by marketplace convention.
Financial instruments are initially measured at fair value plus transactions costs where the instrument is not
classified as at fair value through profit or loss. Transaction costs related to instruments classified as at fair
value through profit or loss are expensed to profit or loss immediately. Financial instruments are classified
and measured as set out below.
Derecognition
Financial assets are derecognised where the contractual rights to receipt of cash flows expires or the asset
is transferred to another party whereby the entity no longer has any significant continuing involvement in
the risks and benefits associated with the asset. Financial liabilities are derecognised where the related
obligations are either discharged, cancelled or expire. The difference between the carrying value of the
financial liability extinguished or transferred to another party and the fair value of consideration paid,
including the transfer of non-cash assets or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss.
Classification and Subsequent Measurement
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
i.
Financial assets are classified at fair value through profit or loss when they are held for trading for
the purpose of short term profit taking, where they are derivatives not held for hedging purposes, or
designated as such to avoid an accounting mismatch or to enable performance evaluation where a
group of financial assets is managed by key management personnel on a fair value basis in accordance
with a documented risk management or investment strategy. Realised and unrealised gains and losses
arising from changes in fair value are included in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.
Loans and receivables
ii.
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are
not quoted in an active market and are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest rate method.
Held-to-maturity investments
iii.
Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets that have fixed maturities and fixed or
determinable payments, and it is the group’s intention to hold these investments to maturity. They are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.
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iv.

Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are either designated as such
or that are not classified in any of the other categories. They comprise investments in the equity of other
entities where there is neither a fixed maturity nor fixed or determinable payments.
Financial Liabilities
v.
Non-derivative financial liabilities (excluding financial guarantees) are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.
g. Impairment of Assets
At each reporting date, the group reviews the carrying values of its assets to determine whether there is
any indication that those assets have been impaired. If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount
of the asset, being the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use, is compared to the
asset’s carrying value. Any excess of the asset’s carrying value over its recoverable amount is expensed to
the income statement.
Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
h. Foreign Currency Transactions and Balances
Functional and presentation currency
The functional currency of each of the group’s entities is measured using the currency of the primary
economic environment in which that entity operates. The consolidated financial statements are presented
in Australian dollars which is the parent entity’s functional and presentation currency.
Transaction and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing
at the date of the transaction. Foreign currency monetary items are translated at the year-end exchange
rate. Non-monetary items measured at historical cost continue to be carried at the exchange rate at the
date of the transaction. Non-monetary items measured at fair value are reported at the exchange rate at
the date when fair values were determined.
Exchange differences arising on the translation of monetary items are recognised in the income statement,
except where deferred in equity as a qualifying cash flow or net investment hedge.
Exchange differences arising on the translation of non-monetary items are recognised directly in equity
to the extent that the gain or loss is directly recognised in equity; otherwise the exchange difference is
recognised in the income statement.
Group companies
The financial results and position of foreign operations whose functional currency is different from the group’s
presentation currency are translated as follows:
assets and liabilities are translated at year-end exchange rates prevailing at that reporting date;
income and expenses are translated at average exchange rates for the period; and
accumulated losses are translated at the exchange rates prevailing at the date of the transaction.
Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations are transferred directly to the group’s
foreign currency translation reserve in the balance sheet. These differences are recognised in the income
statement in the period in which the operation is disposed.
i. Employee Benefits
Provision is made for the company’s liability for employee benefits arising from services rendered by
employees to balance date. At 30 June 2008 no benefits have yet accrued.
j. Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the group has a legal or constructive obligation, as a result of past events,
for which it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will result and that outflow can be reliably
measured. There are no provisions at 30 June 2008.
k. Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term highly
liquid investments with original maturities of 3 months or less, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown
within short-term borrowings in current liabilities on the balance sheet.
l. Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term highly
liquid investments with original maturities of 3 months or less, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown
within short-term borrowings in current liabilities on the balance sheet.
m. Revenue
Interest revenue is recognised using the effective interest rate method, which for floating rate financial
assets is the rate inherent in the instrument.
All revenue is stated net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST).
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Borrowing Costs
Borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.
o. Goods and Services Tax (GST)
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount of GST
incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Tax Office. In these circumstances the GST is recognised as
part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of the expense. Receivables and payables
in the balance sheet are shown inclusive of GST.
Cash flows are presented in the cash flow statement on a gross basis, except for the GST component of
investing and financing activities, which are disclosed as operating cash flows.
p. Comparative Figures
Where necessary comparative information has been reclassified and repositioned for consistency with the
current year disclosures. In the prior year ended 30 June 2007 trade and other receivables and other assets were
classified as current trade and other receivables.
For the current year these have been classified as current trade and other receivables and other assets. The
effect of this reclassification is that for the 2007 year current trade and other receivables has been decreased
by $208,850 for the consolidated group and for the company was decreased by $190,806. Also for the company
$166,507 which had been classified as current trade and other receivables has been reclassified as non-current
trade and other receivables.
Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments
The directors evaluate estimates and judgments incorporated into the financial report based on historical
knowledge and best available current information. Estimates assume a reasonable expectation of future events
and are based on current trends and economic data, obtained both externally and within the group.
n.

NOTE 2: REVENUE
Consolidated Group
2008
$
—

Interest received

—

Overhead recoveries

—

Other Income

—

Foreign Exchange Gain

Total Revenue

Parent Entity

2007
$

2008
$

2007
$

331,587

123,541

331,587

123,541

-

-

289,739

166,507

548

15,359

-

-

44,824

67,683

44,824

-

376,959

206,583

666,150

290,048

NOTE 3: EXPENSES
Consolidated Group
2008
$
Foreign currency losses

Parent Entity

2007
$

2008
$

2007
$

67,493

148,619

-

127,409

Unrealized loss on foreign currency
exchange
Interest expense

1,848,764

536,033

-

-

37,763

-

37,763

-

Exploration expenditure

1,903,111

5,286,703

1,500

-

13,898

-

-

-

64,903

49,028

34,148

10,183

Loss on assets disposal
Rental expense on operating leases
—

minimum lease payments
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NOTE 4: INCOME TAX
Future income tax benefits are estimated at $4,416,990 (2007: $2,923,150) attributable to Australian tax losses
carried forward by the company and future benefits to exploration expenditure and other timing differences
allowable for deduction have not been brought to account in the consolidated accounts at 30 June 2008
because the Directors do not believe it is appropriate to regard full realisation of the future income tax benefits
as probable. These benefits will only be obtained if:
a. The company derives future assessable income of a nature and of an amount sufficient to enable the
benefit from the deductions to be realised; and
b. The company continues to comply with the conditions for deductibility imposed by tax legislation; and
c. No changes in tax legislation adversely affect the company in realising the benefit from the deduction
of the losses.
Consolidated Group
2008
2007
$
$
Loss before income tax
Income tax benefit using the
corporate tax rate of 30% (2007 30%)
Increase/(decrease) in income tax
benefit due to:
Non-deductible expenses
Deferred tax assets & liabilities not
recognised
Income tax expense / (benefit)

Parent Entity
2008
2007
$
$

(6,675,394)

(8,044,259)

(1,502,432)

(1,269,805)

2,002,618

2,413,278

450,730

380,942

(593,084)

(178,130)

(228)

(453)

(1,409,534)

(2,235,148)

(450,502)

(380,489)

-

-

-

-

NOTE 5: KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL COMPENSATION
a.

Names and positions held of economic and parent entity key management personnel in office at any
time during the financial year are:
Key Management Person

Position

Dr Russell Fountain

Chairman - Executive

Dr Chris Farmer

Managing Director - Executive

Mr Stephen de Belle

Director - Non-Executive

Mr Steve Lonergan

Director - Non-Executive

Mr Ian Neuss

Alternate Director/ Executive Business Development Manager

Mr Dominic Barrington

Executive – Commercial Manager

Mr Grant Harding

Executive – Operations Manager

Key management personnel remuneration has been included in the Remuneration Report section of the
Directors Report.
b.

Options and Rights Holdings
Number of Options in respect of which Directors have a relevant interest directly or through related
entities
Balance
1.7.2007

Dr Russell Fountain

Net Change*
Other

Balance
30.6.2008

Total Exer- Total Unexercisable
cisable
30.6.2008
30.6.2008
133,333
133,333
-

Total Vested
30.6.2008

133,333

-

133,333

-

-

-

-

-

-

Mr Stephen de Belle

134,000

-

134,000

134,000

134,000

-

Mr Steve Lonergan

20,800

-

20,800

20,800

20,800

-

Mr Ian Neuss

102,400

-

102,400

102,400

102,400

-

Total

390,533

-

390,533

390,533

390,533

-

Dr Chris Farmer
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c.

Shareholdings
Number of Shares in respect of which Directors have a relevant interest directly or through related
entities
Balance 1.7.2007
Net Change Other*
Balance 30.6.2008

Dr Russell Fountain

5,747,869

100,000

5,847,869

Dr Chris Farmer

5,381,202

-

5,381,202

Mr Stephen de Belle

1,812,999

-

1,812,999

41,600

-

41,600

5,736,543

-

5,736,543

18,720,213

100,000

18,820,213

Mr Steve Lonergan
Mr Ian Neuss
Total

* Net Change Other refers to shares purchased or sold during the financial year.

NOTE 6: AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION
Consolidated Group
2008
$

Parent Entity

2007
$

2008
$

2007
$

Remuneration of the auditor of the parent entity for:
—

auditing the financial report

95,000

50,752

95,000

50,752

—

taxation consulting

13,500

10,569

13,500

10,569

—

accounting services

22,840

30,144

22,840

30,144

—

Independent Accounting Report for ASX Listing

-

15,800

-

15,800

41,938

20,804

-

-

Remuneration of other auditors of subsidiaries for:
—

auditing or reviewing the financial report of
subsidiaries

NOTE 7: EARNINGS PER SHARE
Consolidated Group
2008
$
a.

Loss for the year
Add back loss attributable to minority equity interest
Loss used to calculate basic loss per share and dilutive loss per
share

b.

Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding
during the year used in calculating basic loss per share
Weighted average number of options outstanding
Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding
during the year used in calculating dilutive loss per share

2007
$

(6,675,394)

(8,044,259)

1,413,847

1,891,454

(5,261,547)

(6,152,805)

No.

No.

69,972,875

54,093,597

4,973,972

4,556,255

74,946,847

58,649,852
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NOTE 8: CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Consolidated Group
2008
$
Cash at bank and in hand

Parent Entity

2007
$

4,988,170

5,157,533

2008
$
4,680,675

2007
$
4,810,249

Reconciliation of cash
Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the cash flow statement is reconciled to items in the balance
sheet as above.

NOTE 9: TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
Consolidated Group
2008
2007
$
$

Parent Entity
2008
2007
$
$

CURRENT
Other receivables
NON-CURRENT
Other receivables – loans to
controlled entities

425,289

203,460

208,927

50,573

-

-

18,685,467

5,898,191

The Company’s projects in Indonesia are funded by loans to controlled entities which are interest free until the
commencement of commercial production.
There are no balances within trade and other receivables that are impaired or past due.

NOTE 10: FINANCIAL ASSETS
Note

Available-for-sale financial assets

10a

Consolidated Group
2008
2007
$
$
354,000
2,301,000

Held-to-maturity financial assets

10b

153,062

-

-

-

507,062

2,301,000

5,443,843

7,379,886

Less non-current portion

378,141

2,301,000

5,443,843

7,379,886

Current portion

128,921

-

-

-

354,000

2,301,000

354,000

2,301,000

-

5,089,843

5,078,886

2,301,000

5,443,843

7,379,886

a.

Parent Entity
2008
2007
$
$
5,443,843
7,379,886

Available-for-sale Financial Assets
Comprise
Listed investments, at fair value
—

shares in listed corporations

Unlisted investments, at cost
—

shares in controlled entities

Total available-for-sale financial
assets

354,000

Available-for-sale financial assets comprise investments in the ordinary issued capital of various entities. There are
no fixed returns or fixed maturity dates attached to these investments.
The fair value of unlisted available-for-sale financial assets cannot be reliably measured. As a result, all unlisted
investments are reflected at cost.
50

Finders Resources Limited A.B.N. 82 108 547 413

Financial Report 2008
Finders Resources Limited
ABN 82 108 547 413 & Controlled Entities

b.

Held to maturity Investments
Comprise

Consolidated Group
2008

Parent Entity

2007

2008

2007

—

security deposits

128,921

-

-

-

—

bonds on tenement

24,141

-

-

-

153,062

-

-

-

NOTE 11: OTHER ASSETS
Consolidated Group
2008
2007
$
$

Parent Entity
2008
2007
$
$

CURRENT
Prepayments

628,579

208,850

12,879

24,299

807,965

-

-

-

NON-CURRENT
Prepayments

NOTE 12: CONTROLLED ENTITIES
a.

Controlled Entities Consolidated
Country of
Incorporation
Parent Entity:
Finders Resources Limited

Australia
Percentage Owned (%)*

Subsidiaries of Finders Resources Limited:

2008

2007

Banda Minerals Pty Limited

Australia

72.385

72.385

PT Batutua Tembaga Raya #

Indonesia

72.543

72.388

Way Kanan Resources Pty Limited

Australia

71.71

71.71

PT Batutua Lampung Elok #

Indonesia

71.82

71.82

New Zealand

100

-

Finders Resources NZ Limited

* Percentage of voting power is in proportion to ownership
# This company is audited by a firm other than the auditor of the parent entity
b.

Acquisition of Controlled Entities
-

On 13 March 2008 Finders Resources Ltd and Banda Minerals Pty Ltd agreed to increase the authorized
and issued capital of PT Batutua Tembaga Raya respectively from US$100,000, divided into 10,000
shares, each share having a nominal value of US$10 to become US$1,750,000 divided into 175,000
shares, each share having a nominal value of US$10.  As a result, Finders’ interest in PT Batutua Tembaga
Raya is currently 72.543%.
The purpose of this additional investment is to meet the Indonesian Investment Board regulations.

-

A New Zealand company Finders Resources NZ Ltd was incorporated on 30 June 2008 to facilitate the
acquisition of an ocean-going vessel which will be used for transportation of people and stores to the
mine site at Wetar. Finders Resources Ltd holds 100 shares with a nominal value of NZ$1 each being
100% of the issued shares of this company.
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NOTE 13: PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Consolidated Group
2008
$

Parent Entity

2007
$

2008
$

2007
$

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Plant and equipment : At Cost
- Computer and Office Equipment

229,252

129,161

24,637

9,218

- Motor Vehicles

77,152

-

-

-

- Machinery

29,360

-

-

-

- Construction in Progress

3,634,218

-

-

-

Total Plant and equipment : At Cost

3,969,982

129,161

24,637

9,218

- Computer and Office Equipment

(56,418)

(17,400)

(6,096)

(1,375)

- Motor Vehicles

(10,535)

-

-

-

(1,810)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(68,763)

(17,400)

(6,096)

(1,375)

3,901,219

111,761

18,541

7,843

Accumulated depreciation

- Machinery
- Construction in Progress

a.

Movements in Carrying Amounts
Movements in the carrying amounts for each class of property, plant and equipment between the beginning
and the end of the current financial year

Plant & Equipment

Computer &
Motor Vehicles
Equipment
$

$

Machinery

Construction in
Progress

Total

$

$

$

Consolidated Group:
Balance at 1 July 2006

4,021

-

-

-

4,021

Additions

124,540

-

-

-

124,540

Disposals

-

-

-

-

-

Depreciation expense

(16,800)

-

-

-

(16,800)

Balance at 30 June 2007

111,761

-

-

-

111,761

Additions

102,423

94,573

29,360

3,634,219

3,860,575

Disposals

-

(15,204)

-

-

(15,204)

Depreciation expense

(41,351)

(12,752)

(1,810)

-

(55,913)

Balance at 30 June 2008

172,833

66,617

27,550

3,634,219

3,901,219
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Plant & Equipment

Computer &
Motor Vehicles
Equipment
$

$

Machinery

Construction in
Progress

Total

$

$

$

Parent Entity:
Balance at 1 July 2006

-

-

-

-

-

Additions

9,218

-

-

-

9,218

Disposals

-

-

-

-

-

(1,375)

-

-

-

(1,375)

7,843

-

-

-

7,843

Additions

15,419

-

-

-

15,419

Disposals

-

-

-

-

-

Depreciation expense

(4,721)

-

-

-

(4,721)

Balance at 30 June 2008

18,541

-

-

-

18,541

Depreciation expense
Balance at 30 June 2007

NOTE 14: DEVELOPMENT EXPENDITURE
Consolidated Group

NON-CURRENT
Development expenditure
capitalised
development phase – pilot
—
plant project

2008

2007

5,155,678

-

Parent Entity
200

2007

-

-

Recoverability of the carrying amount of exploration assets is dependent on the successful exploration and sale
of copper ore.
Capitalised costs amounting to $5,155,678 (2007: Nil) have been included in cash flows from investing activities
in the cash flow statement.

NOTE 15: TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
Consolidated Group
2008
$

Parent Entity

2007
$

2008
$

2007
$

CURRENT
Unsecured liabilities
Trade and other payables

2,198,819

493,385

308,683

160,472

2,198,819

493,385

308,683

160,472
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NOTE 16: FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
Consolidated Group
2008
2007
$
$

Parent Entity
2008
2007
$
$

NON-CURRENT
Secured liabilities
Commercial loan

4,216,659

-

4,216,659

-

4,216,659

-

4,216,659

-

The commercial loans are secured by a charge over the parent entity’s assets.

NOTE 17: ISSUED CAPITAL
Consolidated Group
2008
2007
$
$

Parent Entity
2008
2007
$
$

74,911,425 (2007: 65,575,036) fully paid
28,025,197
18,061,344
28,025,197
18,061,344
ordinary shares
The company has authorised share capital amounting to 74,911,425 ordinary shares of no par value.
a.

Movements in Ordinary shares
Number of
Shares

Date
1 July 2006

Opening balance

8 March 2007

—

Placement

4 June 2007

—

Initial public offering

13 June 2007

—

Placement
Less share issue transaction
costs
Balance

30 June 2007

Issue Price

52,915,220

$
11,551,816

1,478,000

$0.63

933,899

10,999,998

$0.55

6,049,999

181,818

-

-

-

(474,370)

65,575,036

18,061,344

27 September 2007

—

Exercise of options

20,800

$0.50

10,400

28 November 2007

—

Exercise of options

28,300

$0.50

14,150

3 January 2008

—

Placement

4,000,000

$1.10

4,400,000

11 January 2008

—

Share issue to employees

70,000

$1.05

73,500

11 January 2008

—

Placement

5,165,289

$1.10

5,681,818

15 February 2008

—

Exercise of options
Less share issue transaction
costs
Balance

52,000

$0.50

25,985

30 June 2008

-

(242,000)

74,911,425

28,025,197

Ordinary shares participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding up of the parent entity in proportion to
the number of shares held.
At the shareholders meetings each ordinary share is entitled to one vote when a poll is called, otherwise each
shareholder has one vote on a show of hands.
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b.

Options
Consolidated Group
2008

2007

2008

At the beginning of reporting period
Options issued (converted to shares)
during the year

5,024,748

—

27 September 2007

(20,800)

(20,800)

—

28 November 2007

(28,300)

(28,300)

—

15 February 2008

(52,000)

(52,000)

At reporting date
c.

Parent Entity

4,524,748

2007

5,024,748

4,524,748

500,000

4,923,648

5,024,748

500,000

4,923,648

5,024,748

Capital Management
Management controls the capital of the group in order to ensure that the group can fund its operations and
continue as a going concern.
The group’s debt and capital includes ordinary share capital and financial liabilities, supported by financial
assets.
There are no externally imposed capital requirements.
Management effectively manages the group’s capital by assessing the group’s financial risks and adjusting
its capital structure in response to changes in these risks and in the market. These responses include the
management of debt levels, distributions to shareholders and share issues.
There have been changes in the strategy adopted by management to control the capital of the group since
the prior year. The company has a continuing preference for equity rather than debt capital. However,
with earnings forecast to commence before the middle of the 2008-09 financial year, this strategy has been
relaxed slightly, and the company has obtained a loan during the year (with Meridian International Capital
Limited). The company has ensured that the group’s gearing ratio and debt service obligations remain
minimal until such time as revenue actually emerges, thereby avoiding placing the company’s assets at risk
as a result of a loan default. The loan was comfortably covered by cash (at end June 2008). Repayments
are not scheduled to commence until after production of copper has commenced (and are capped at
the amount of cash flow generated by the pilot project) and it is contemplated (in the loan agreement)
that repayment will largely occur via roll-over into a project financing facility.

NOTE 18: RESERVES
Financial Asset Reserve
The financial asset reserve records revaluation of financial assets.
Foreign Currency Translation Reserve
The foreign currency translation reserve records exchange differences arising on translation of a foreign
controlled subsidiary.

NOTE 19: CAPITAL AND LEASING COMMITMENTS
a. Operating Lease Commitments
Non-cancellable operating leases contracted for but not capitalised in the financial
statements
Consolidated Group
2008
Payable — minimum lease
payments
— not later than 12 months
—

between 12 months and 5
years    

Parent Entity

2007

2008

2007

48,245

-

-

26,317

26,317
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b. Capital Expenditure Commitments
Capital commitments contracted for but not capitalised in the financial statements, relate to an agreement
made with associated entity PT Batutua Kharisma Permai to purchase shares to the value of US$300,000 in
Banda Minerals Pty Ltd. The first 2 instalments were paid prior to 30 June 2008 and are included in current
receivables.
Consolidated Group

Parent Entity

2008

2007

2008

2007

156,168

-

156,168

-

Payable —
—

not later than 12 months

NOTE 20: SEGMENT REPORTING
The Consolidated Group operates in two geographical locations being Australia and Indonesia, and its business
is concentrated on investments and mineral exploration / mining projects. As yet the Consolidated Group has
not generated any revenues.
Segment accounting policies are the same as the Consolidated Group’s accounting policies. During the
financial year, there were no changes in segment accounting policies that had a material effect on the segment
information.
Primary Reporting — Geographical Segments
Segment

Segment Revenues
External
2008
2007
$
$

2008
$

Result

2007
$

Carrying Amount of Segment
Assets
2008
2007
$
$

Geographical
location:
Australia

-

67,683

(1,029,442)

(791,727)

5,275,031

7,193,974

Indonesia

-

-

(4,139,471)

(6,191,688)

11,138,851

788,629

-

67,683

(5,168,913)

(6,983,415)

16,413,883

7,982,603

Segment

Geographical
location:
Australia
Indonesia

2008
$

Liabilities

Cost to acquire Plant and
Equipment
2008
2007
$
$

2007
$

Depreciation of
Segment Assets
2008
2007
$
$

308,683

160,472

15,419

9,218

(4,721)

(1,375)

1,853,413

310,454

3,845,157

115,322

(51,192)

(15,425)

2,162,095

470,926

3,860,576

124,540

(55,913)

(16,800)

Secondary Reporting — Business Segments

Business Segments:

Segment Revenues
from External Customers
2008
2007
$
$

Carrying Amount
of Segment Assets
2008
2007
$
$

Acquisitions of
Non-current Segment Assets
2008
2007
$
$

Investments

-

-

5,275,031

7,193,974

15,419

9,218

Projects

-

-

11,138,851

788,629

9,053,430

115,322

-

-

16,413,883

7,982,603

9,068,849

124,540
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NOTE 21: CASH FLOW INFORMATION

a.

Consolidated Group
2008
2007
$
$

Parent Entity
2008
2007
$
$

(6,675,394)

(8,044,259)

(1,502,432)

(1,269,805)

1,848,764

536,033

(44,824)

-

Depreciation

55,913

16,800

4,721

1,375

Lost on assets disposal

13,898

-

-

-

Share based payment

73,500

-

73,500

-

(1,602,585)

(14,595)

(146,934)

(162,086)

1,705,434

417,053

148,211

96,774

(4,580,470)

(7,088,968)

(1,467,758)

(1,333,742)

Reconciliation of Cash Flow from
Operations with Loss
Loss
Non-cash flows in loss
Unrealised foreign exchange
(gain) / loss

Changes in assets and liabilities, net of
the effects of purchase and disposal of
subsidiaries
(Increase)/decrease in trade and
other receivables
Increase/(decrease) in trade
payables and other payables
Cash flow from operations

NOTE 22: SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS
The following share-based payment arrangements existed at 30 June 2008:
On 11 January 2008 there were 70,000 Finders Resources Ltd ordinary shares issued to employees. The Finders
Resources Ltd share price on 11 January 2008 was $1.05, thus the total of $73,500 ($1.05 * 70,000) is booked as an
expense for the year ended 30 June 2008.

NOTE 23: EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE
a.

On 3 July 2008, Finders Resources NZ Ltd as purchaser and Finders Resources Ltd as guarantor entered into an
agreement with Perseverence Trawling Ltd for the purchase of an ocean-going vessel for the consideration
of NZ$700,000. This amount is payable as to NZ$200,000 on taking possession of the vessel and as to 17 equal
consecutive calendar monthly payments of NZ$10,000 each with the first of these payments due 1 month
after possession date. A final payment of NZ$330,000 payable 18 months after possession date.
Finders Resources Ltd, as guarantor, unconditionally and irrevocably guarantees to Perseverence Trawling
Ltd the due and punctual payment of the principal owing together with any interest payable on this Ships
Mortgage.

b.

On July 2008 the company drew down the balance of the Meridian International Capital Ltd loan. The
balance outstanding after this draw down amounts to US$5,000,000.

c.

On 2 September 2008 the company arranged a placement of up to 8,333,333 shares at A$0.60 subject to
shareholders’ approval

d.

On 2 September 2008 the company issued an Share Purchase Plan for existing shareholders to subscribe up
to AU$5000 at a price of AU$0.60
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NOTE 24: RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Transactions with related parties:

Transactions between related parties are on normal
commercial terms and conditions no more favourable than
those available to other parties unless otherwise stated.

Consolidated Group
2008
2007
$
$

Parent Entity
2008
2007
$
$

Transactions with related parties:
a.

b.

Controlled Entities
During the year interest free loans have been
provided by Finders Resources Ltd to its’ controlled
entities. These transactions are eliminated on
consolidation.
Associated Companies

-

-

12,953,784

5,988,763

25,600

20,430

25,600

20,430

112,009

178,625

-

-

An interest free loan was provided to PT Batutua
Kharisma Permai a company controlled by a
director of Banda Minerals Pty Ltd.

-

35,606

-

-

A share based payment as part of the Engagement
Agreement in relation to the ASX listing was made to
RFC Corporation Pty Ltd.

-

100,000

-

100,000

An interest free loan was provided to Mr G.
Mbatemooy who controls PT Batutua Kharisma
Permai and is a director of Banda Minerals Pty Ltd

46,973

46,973

46,973

46,973

Consulting fees have been paid to Mr G
Mbatemooy who controls PT Batutua Kharisma
Permai and is a director of Banda Minerals Pty Ltd.

87,946

-

87,946

-

Payments made to Oakhill Hamilton Pty Ltd for
secretarial services provided by Mr Ian Morgan.
Payments made to Elliott Geophysics Indonesia,
which is a company controlled by Mr Peter Elliott
who is a director of Way Kanan Resources Pty Ltd for
geophysical services

c.

d.

Other Related Parties

Key Management Personnel
Payments have been made to director related entities for services provided to the Consolidated
Group. The following payments have been made:
2008
2007
Exsolutions Pty Ltd *
Redgate Resources Pty Ltd **
Exflex Holdings Pty Ltd ***

* Russell Fountain is a director of Exsolutions Pty Ltd.
** Ian Neuss is a director of Redgate Resources Pty Ltd.
*** Stephen de Belle is a director of Exflex Holdings Pty Ltd.
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92,014

92,014

105,600

106,000

18,000

18,000

215,614

216,014
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NOTE 25: FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
a.

Financial Risk Management Policies
In common with all other businesses the group is exposed to risks that arise from its use of financial instruments. This
note describes the groups objectives, processes and policies for managing those risks and the methods used to
measure them.
The group’s financial instruments, from which financial instrument risk arises, consist mainly of deposits with banks,
investments, accounts receivable and payable, loans to and from subsidiaries and commercial loans
The main purpose of non-derivative financial instruments is to raise finance for group operations.
The group did not have any derivative instruments throughout the year ended 30 June 2008.
i.

General Objectives, Policies and Processes
The board have overall responsibility for the determination of the groups risk management objectives and
policies. The board meets on a regular basis and analyses and discusses the current economic climate and
forecasts.
In respect to the groups most significant risk, that being foreign currency risk, the board retains an external
consultant to advise on this risk.
The overall objective of the board is to set policies that seek to reduce risk without unduly affecting the group’s
ability to operate and function.

ii.

Financial Risk Exposures and Management
The main risks the group is exposed to through its financial instruments are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk,
liquidity risk and price risk.
Credit Risk
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party by
failing to discharge an obligation. The main exposure to credit risk is from the loans to the subsidiaries from the
parent entity. The board acknowledges this risk, but accepts it since it is required to fund the projects. The risk
has been managed by having legal contracts drawn up to recover the funds once production commences.
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the group will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial
liabilities. The group is exposed to this risk through its commercial loan and its expenditure on its projects.
The group manages liquidity risk by monitoring forecast cash flows and, in the event of planned increased
expenditures (e.g. for the pilot plant at Wetar), by taking timely action to raise additional capital (pending
commencement of earnings).
Market Risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in market prices. Market risk comprises three types of risks:
Foreign currency risk
The group’s greatest exposure is to fluctuations in foreign currencies which arise from the purchase of goods
and services and loans in currencies other than the group’s functional currency. Foreign currency bank
accounts are held by the company to effect transactions in Australia, the UK and Indonesia. As noted above,
the currency balances are approximately matched against budgeted expenditures in relevant currencies,
thereby minimising practical exposure to currency movement risk.
Interest rate risk
The group is exposed to interest rate risk through its cash deposits held with banks and its interest bearing
commercial loan based on US$ LIBOR. The Company evaluates the risk by calculating the net market value
on a Quarterly basis.
Price Risk
The group is exposed to price risk through its investment is ASX Listed shares which are subject to price fluctuations
based on the market. The board reviews its investments on a continuing basis.

iii.

Financial instrument composition and maturity analysis:
The tables below reflect the undiscounted contractual settlement terms for financial instruments of a fixed
period of maturity, as well as management’s expectations of the settlement period for all other financial
instruments. As such, the amounts may not reconcile to the balance sheet.
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Total Financial
Liabilities

Financial
Liabilities:
Commercial
loans and
overdrafts
Trade and
sundry
payables

Total Financial
Assets

Investments
Security
Deposit
Bond

Cash and cash
equivalents
Receivables

Financial Assets:

Consolidated
Group

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

4.31

%

3.00

%

Weighted Average
Effective Interest
Rate
2008
2007

-

-

-

-

-

5,157,533

-

-

-

-

5,157,533

2007

-

4,988,170

-

-

-

-

4,988,170

2008

Floating Interest Rate

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

2007

-

128,921  

-

128,921

-

-

-

2008

Mature within 1 year

4,216,659

-

4,216,659

24,141  

24,141

-

-

-

-

2008

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

2007

Mature within 1 to 5
year

Fixed Interest Rate Maturing

2,157,520

2,157,520

-

779,289

-

-

354,000

425,289

-

2008

448,659

448,659

-

2,504,460

-

-

2,301,000

203,460

-

2007

Non Interest Bearing

6,374,179

2,157,520

4,216,659

5,920,521

24,141

128,921

354,000

425,289

4,988,170

2008

2007

448,659

448,659

-

7,661,993

-

-

2,301,000

203,460

5,157,533

TOTAL
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Total Financial
Liabilities

Financial
Liabilities:
Commercial
loans and
overdrafts
Trade and
sundry
payables

Total Financial
Assets

Cash and cash
equivalents
Receivables
Investments

Financial Assets:

Parent Entity

-

-

-

-

-

-

4.31
-

-

-

3.00
-

Weighted
Average
Effective
Interest
Rate
2008 2007
%
%

-

-

-

4,680,675

4,680,675
-

2008

-

-

-

4,810,249

4,810,249
-

2007

Floating Interest Rate

2008

-

-

-

-

-

2007

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

4,216,659

-

4,216,659

2008

2007

Fixed Interest Rate Maturing
Mature within 1 year
Mature within 1 to 5
year

-

-

-

-

-

304,106

304,106

-

24,338,237

18,894,394
5,443,843

2008

153,867

153,867

-

13,328,650

5,948,764
7,379,886

2007

Non Interest Bearing

4,520,765

304,106

4,216,659

29,018,912

4,680,675
18,894,394
5,443,843

2008

2007

153,867

153,867

-

18,138,899

7,379,886

5,948,764

    4,810,249

TOTAL
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iv.

Net Fair Values
The net fair values of listed investments have been valued at the quoted market bid price at balance
date.
All other financial assets and liabilities included in the balance sheet are carried at amounts
approximate to fair value.

v.

Sensitivity Analysis
Interest Rate Risk, Foreign Currency Risk and Price Risk
The group has performed sensitivity analysis relating to its exposure to interest rate risk, foreign currency
risk and price risk at balance date. This sensitivity analysis demonstrates the effect on the current year
results and equity which could result from a change in these risks.
Interest Rate Sensitivity Analysis
At 30 June 2008, the effect on profit and equity as a result of changes in the interest rate, with all other
variables remaining constant would be as follows:

Consolidated Group
2008
2007
$
$

Parent Entity
2008
2007
$
$

Change in profit
—

Increase in interest rate by 2%

—

Decrease in interest rate by 2%

156,352

57,327

156,352

57,327

(156,352)

(57,327)

(156,352)

(57,327)

156,352

57,327

156,352

57,327

(156,352)

(57,327)

(156,352)

(57,327)

Change in Equity
—

Increase in interest rate by 2%

—

Decrease in interest rate by 2%

Foreign Currency Risk Sensitivity Analysis
At 30 June 2008, the effect on profit and equity as a result of changes in the value of the Australian
Dollar to the US Dollar, with all other variables remaining constant is as follows:
Consolidated Group
2008
2007
$
$

Parent Entity
2008
2007
$
$

Change in profit
—

Improvement in AUD to USD by 5%

—

Decline in AUD to USD by 5%

2,241

6,370

2,241

6,370

(2,241)

(6,370)

(2,241)

(6,370)

2,241

6,370

2,241

6,370

(2,241)

(6,370)

(2,241)

(6,370)

Change in Equity
—

Improvement in AUD to USD by 5%

—

Decline in AUD to USD by 5%

Foreign Currency Risk Sensitivity Analysis
At 30 June 2008, the effect on profit and equity as a result of changes in the value of the Indonesian
Rupiah to the US Dollar, with all other variables remaining constant is as follows:
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Consolidated Group
2008
2007
$
$

Parent Entity
2008
2007
$
$

Change in profit
—

Improvement in RUP to USD by 5%

—

Decline in RUP to USD by 5%

93,572

34,233

-

-

(93,572)

(34,233)

-

-

93,572

34,233

-

-

(93,572)

(34,233)

-

-

Change in Equity
—

Improvement in RUP to USD by 5%

—

Decline in RUP to USD by 5%

Price Risk Sensitivity Analysis
The relevant risk variable could not be reliably estimated to calculate effect on equity as a result of
changes in the price of the ASX listed shares due to the volatility of the market.
The above interest rate and foreign exchange rate sensitivity analysis has been performed on the assumption
that all other variables remain unchanged.

NOTE 26: COMPANY DETAILS
The registered office of the company is:
Finders Resources Limited
Suite 51, Level 3
330 Wattle St
SYDNEY NSW 2007
AUSTRALIA
The principal places of business are:
-

Suite 51, Level 3
330 Wattle St
SYDNEY NSW 2007
AUSTRALIA

-

Room 931, Level IX
Patra Office Tower
JI. Jend. Gatot Subroto Kav 32-34
Jakarta Selatan 12950
INDONESIA
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Substantial Shareholders
Substantial shareholders as disclosed in Substantial Shareholder Notices given to the Company:

Shareholder

Number Of Shares

Proportion Of Issued Shares

EXSOLUTIONS PTY LTD

5,747,869

7.7%

MR IAN DAVID NEUSS

5,736,543

7.7%

TENNANT METALS PTY LIMITED

5,437,561

7.2%

DR CHRISTOPHER BEN FARMER

5,381,202

7.2%

LUJETA PTY LTD

4,675,000

6.3%

Security Holder Information
Number of
Securities
74,921,825

Class of Security
Ordinary fully paid shares
Unquoted Options

Number of Holders
526

Option Price

Expiry Date

50 cents

20 March 2009

3,090,367

52

24 UK pence

22 March 2009

1,322,881

1

68.75 cents

13 June 2010

500,000

1

Voting Rights
Ordinary Shares
At a general meeting on a show of hands, each shareholder present has one vote and on a poll each
shareholder present has:

(i) one vote for each fully paid share held; and
(ii) for each share which is not fully paid a fraction of a vote equivalent to the proportion which
the amount paid up, but not credited as paid up, on that share bears to the total of the
amounts paid and payable (excluding amounts credited) on that share.

Options
There are no voting rights attached to options.

Distribution of Holders and Holdings
Category

Unquoted Options
Number Of
Options held
Holders

1 - 1,000

25

15,924

-

-

1,001 - 5,000

99

345,033

8

30,000

5,001 - 10,000

92

792,592

7

64,666

231

9,199,332

27

915,869

79

64,568,944

10

3,902,713

526

74,921,825

52

4,913,2481

17

7,924

10,001 - 100,000
100,001 and over
Total
Holders of less than a
marketable parcel:
64

Ordinary Shares
Number Of
Shares Held
Holders
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20 Largest Holders of Ordinary Shares and their Holdings
Shareholder

Number of Shares

Percentage of capital

1

Exsolutions Pty Ltd

5,847,869

7.81

2

Dr Christopher Ben Farmer

5,381,202

7.18

3

Mr Ian David Neuss

5,381,202

7.18

4

Lujeta Pty Ltd

4,625,000

6.17

5

HSBC Global Custody Nominee (UK) Limited

4,455,000

5.94

6

MIT Nominees Pty Limited

3,099,173

4.14

7

HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited

3,022,366

4.03

8

Tennant Metals Pty Limited

2,338,388

3.12

9

Darley Pty Limited

2,200,000

2.94

10

National Nominees Limited

1,700,000

2.27

11

Lomacott Pty Ltd

1,500,000

2.00

12

Mr Stephen De Belle

1,403,999

1.87

13

Merrill Lynch (Australia) Nominees Pty Limited

1,000,000

1.33

14

Fortis Clearing Nominees P/L

970,102

1.29

15

Mr Stephen Jack Fountain

900,000

1.20

16

Barclay Share Nominees Limited

778,427

1.04

17

Clodene Pty Ltd

750,000

1.00

18

Mr Henry Wiechecki

750,000

1.00

19

High Shaw Pty Ltd

600,000

0.80

20

Stith Pty Ltd

583,902

0.78

47,286,630

63.09

Total top 20 Ordinary Shareholders
1

Alchemy Securities Pty Ltd held 1,956,214 (39.8%) of these 4,913,248 unquoted options.  

The Company Secretary is Mr Ian Morgan
Company’s Registered Office
Finders Resources Limited
Suite 51, Level 3
330 Wattle St
Ultimo NSW 2007
Australia
Telephone:

+61 (0) 2 9211 8299

Facsimile:

+61 (0) 2 9212 0200

Email:

info@findersresources.com

Web site:

www.findersreources.com
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Securities Registrars
Australia

United Kingdom

Computershare Limited
60 Carrington Street

Computershare Investor Services PLC
PO Box 82, The Pavilions
Bridgwater Road

Sydney NSW 2000

BRISTOL BS99 7NH

Australia

United Kingdom

Telephone:
+61 3 9611 5711
1300 555 159 (within Australia)

Telephone:
+44 (0) 870 889 3105

Facsimile: +61 (0)2 8235 8150

+44 (0) 870 703 6101

Web Site::

Web Site:

www-au.computershare.com

www-uk.computershare.com

Securities Exchanges
Quotation has been granted by Australian Securities Exchange Limited for all non-escrowed fully paid ordinary
shares issued by the Company.
Quotation has also been granted for Depository Interests issued by the Company on the Alternative
Investment Market (AIM), a sub-market of the London Stock Exchange.

Restricted Securities
Class of Security

Ordinary fully paid shares
Options

66

Option Price

Expiry Date

68.75 cents

13 June 2010
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Number of
Restricted
Securities

End of restriction period

181,818

13 June 2009

500,000

13 June 2009
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Mining Tenements
The Company has interest in the following tenements at Wetar and Ojolali, Indonesia:
Tenement
KP decision No.
660/36 of 2008
660/37 of 2008

Tenement Type
Exploration
First Extension

Date Issued

Validity/
Status

Area
(ha)

Owner

Finders
Interest

Jan 14, 2007

1 year

1,372

BKP

72.5%

Jan 14, 2007

1 year

1,361

BKP

72.5%

543/955 of 2006

Exploration

Oct 16, 2006

3 years

2,636

BKP

72.5%

660/38 of 2008

Exploration

Jan 14, 2007

1 year

1,021

BBW

72.5%

660/39 of 2008

Exploration

Jan 14, 2007

1 year

1,106

BBW

72.5%

540/130 of 2008

Exploration

Jan 14, 2007

1 year

1,148

BBW

72.5%

543/186 of 2008

Exploration

Mar 18, 2007

1 year

1,418

BKP

72.5%

B.189/04-WK/HK/2007

Exploration

Dec 19, 2007

3 years

856

BWKM

71.8%

B.187/04-WK/HK/2007

Exploration

Dec 19, 2007

3 years

1,626

BWKM

71.8%

Dec 19, 2007

1 year

1,715

BWKM

71.8%

Dec 19, 2007

1 year

1,715

BWKM

71.8%

B.186/04-WK/HK/2007
B.188/04-WK/HK/2007

Exploration
First Extension*

BKP : PT Batutua Kharisma Permai
BBW : PT Batutua Barit Wetar
BWKM: PT Batutua WayKanan Mineral (*) under process
All parties are subject to Cooperation agreements with Finders Resources.

On-Market Buy Back
There is no current on-market buy-back.
Statement of using cash for business objectives
The Company has used the cash and assets in a form readily convertible to cash that it had at the time of
Official Quotation by the Australian Securities Exchange (8 June 2007) in a way consistent with its business
objectives.

Other Information
Finders Resources Limited, incorporated and domiciled in Australia, is a public listed company limited by
shares.
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Corporate Directory
Directors

Russell John Fountain
Christopher Ben Farmer
Ian David Neuss
Stephen Ross de Belle
Stephen John Lonergan

Secretary

Ian Morgan

Offices

Registered Office in Australia and
Principal Place of Business

Office in Indonesia
(Project Office Wetar & Ojolali)

Suite 51, Level 3
330 Wattle Street
Ultimo NSW 2007
Ph (612) 9211 8299

Level 9, Room 931
Patra Office Tower
Jl Jend. Gatot Subroto 32-34
Jakarta, Indonesia

Telephone

+ (612) 9211 8299

Fax

+ (612)9212 0200

Email

info@findersresources.com

Website

www.findersresources.com

Corporate Adviser and Nominated Adviser (for the AIM
Market of the London Stock
Exchange)

RFC Corporate Finance Limited
Level 14
19-31 Pitt Street
Sydney NSW 2000
Australia

Broker

JMFinn Capital Markets Limited
4 Coleman Street
London EC2R 5TA
United Kingdom

Auditor and Reporting
Accountant

4 Coleman Street

Solicitors to the Company

London EC2R 5TA

Executive Chairman
Managing Director
Alternate for Mr Fountain
Non-Executive Director
Non-Executive Director

and
Level 8, QV1 Building
250 St Georges Terrace
Perth WA 6000
Australia

United Kingdom

Share Register

In Australia

In the UK

Computershare Limited
60 Carrington Street
Sydney NSW 2000
Australia

Computershare Investor Services Plc
The Pavilions
Bridgwater Road,
Bristol BS99 7NH
United Kingdom

Annual Report Design and Print Preparation by

!

!

!

